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LINITED STATES DISTzuCT COURT

:i:1^ :]:IT"' OF NEW YORK
--x

LINITED STATES OF AMERICA

- against -
LAFARGE S.A. and
LAFARGE CEMENT SYRIA S.A.,

Defendants.

The United States of America, by and through the United States Attorney's Office

for the Eastem District of New York (the "Office") and the National Security Division of the

United States Department of Justice ("NSD"), and the defendants Lafarge S.A. ("Lafarge,,) and

Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. ("LCS" and collectively with Lafarge, the "Defendants" or the

"Companies"), by and through their undersigned attorneys, and through their authorized

representatives, pursuant to authority granted by the Board of Directors of Lafarge (the "Board,'),

hereby enter into this plea agreement (the "Agreement"). The Defendants agree to waive their

right to grand jury indictment and their right to challenge venue in the United States District

Court for the Eastern District of New York and to plead guilty to a one-count criminal

information (the "Information"), pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, under Rule I l(c)(l)(C)

of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. The terms and conditions of the Agreement are as

follows
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THE D

l. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraphs 14 and 15 below in

connection with the Defendants' cooperation obligations, the Defendants' obligations under the

Agreement shall last and be effective for a period beginning on the date on which the

Information is filed and ending three years from the date on which the Information is filed (the

"Term"). The Defendants agree, however, that, in the event the Office and NSD determine, in

their sole discretion, that the Defendants have failed specifically to perform or to fulfill

completely each of the Defendants' obligations under this Agreement, extensions of the Term

may be imposed by the Office and NSD, in their sole discretion, for up to a total additional

period of one year. Any extension of the Term extends all terms of this Agreement for an

equivalent period.

THE DEFENDANTS' AGREEMENT

2. The Defendants agree to plead guilty to the Information, which charges

the Defendants with one count of conspiracy to provide material support to one or more foreign

terrorist organizations ("FTOs"), in violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 23398(a)(1). The Defendants

further agree to persist in that plea through sentencing and, as set forth below, to cooperate fully

with the Office and NSD in their investigation into the conduct described in, or related to the

conduct described in, this Agreement, the Information and the Statement of Facts attached hereto

as Attachment A (the "Statement of Facts").

3. The Defendants understand that, to be guilty of this offense, the following

essential elements must be satisfied: An unlawful agreement existed between each Defendant

and one or more other persons to provide material support and resources, as defined in Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2339A(bX1), to the Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham ("lSIS") and
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al-Nusrah Front ("ANF"), which at all relevant times were designated by the Secretary of State

as FTOs, pursuant to Section 219 of the Immigration and Nationality Act, knowing that the

FTOs were designated foreign terrorist organizations or that the FTOs had engaged and were

engaging in terrorist activity and terrorism, and after the conduct required for this offense

occurred, the Defendants were brought into and found in the United States, the offense occurred

in part within the United States, the offense occurred in and affected interstate and foreign

commerce, or the Defendants conspired with a national of the United States (as defined in

section 101(a)(22) of the Immigration and Nationality Act).

4. The Defendants understand and agree that this Agreement is among the

Office, NSD and the Defendants, and does not bind any other division or section of the

Department of Justice or any other federal, state, local or foreign prosecuting, administrative or

regulatory authority. Nevertheless, the Office and NSD will bring this Agreement, the nature of

the Defendants' conduct and the nature and quality of any cooperation and/or remediation by the

Defendants, as well as that of their direct or indirect parents, affiliates, subsidiaries and joint

ventures, to the attention of other law enforcement, regulatory and debarment authorities if

requested by the Defendants.

5. The Defendants agree that this Agreement will be executed by an

authorized corporate representative, pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board, in the

form attached to this Agreement as Attachment B ("Certificate of Corporate Resolutions"),

authorizing the Defendants to enter into this Agreement and take all necessary steps to effectuate

this Agreement, and that the signatures on this Agreement by the Defendants and their counsel

are authorized by the Board.

J
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6. Lafarge agrees that it has the full legalright, power and authority to enter

into and perform all of its obligations under the Agreement, and that an authorized representative

of Lafarge is doing so for LCS.

7. The Office and NSD enter into this Agreement based on the individual

facts and circumstances presented by this case, including:

a. The seriousness and pervasiveness of the offense conduct, which

implicated executives at high levels of both Defendants, occurred in multiple jurisdictions and

involved a conspiracy to pay millions of dollars for the benefit of ISIS and ANF;

b. The Defendants' clear demonstration of recognition of, and

affirmative acceptance of responsibility for, their criminal conduct;

c. The Defendants' lack of prior criminal history;

d. The fact that the Holcim Group ("Holcim"), after acquiring the

Defendants on or about July 10,2015, and during the approximately seven months prior to the

emergence of public allegations of misconduct in Syria, did not conduct post-acquisition due

diligence of the Defendants' operations in Syria;

e. The decision by Holcim's Board of Directors, after learning of the

relevant criminal conduct, to undertake an internal investigation into the relevant criminal

conduct carried out by external U.S. legal counsel, which resulted in a public announcement in

April2017 that the defendants had used intermediaries in Syria to make payments for the benefit

of "terrorist groups designated by the US and the EU";

f. The fact that the criminal conduct uncovered by the internal

investigation was not voluntarily self-reported to the Department of Justice, and that the Office
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and NSD have determined that they did not receive timely and full cooperation with their

investigation;

g. The decision by Holcim executives to timely separate from all

remaining personnel employed by the Defendants found to be involved in or responsible for the

offense conduct;

h. The fact that culpable individuals responsible for the Defendants'

criminal conduct are subject to effective prosecution in another jurisdiction;

i. The Defendants' agreement to cooperate with the Office and NSD

in any ongoing investigation as described in Paragraphs l4 and 15 berow;

j. The improvements in Lafarge's compliance program since the time

of the criminal conduct, and the commitment to maintain and, where appropriate, further

improve that program in accordance with the requirements set forth in Attachment C; and

k. Lafarge's commitment, in Attachment B, to guarantee the

Defendants' compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

8. To address any deficiencies in its internal accounting controls, policies

and procedures, Lafarge represents that it has undertaken, and will continue to undertake in the

future, in a manner consistent with all of its obligations under this Agreement, a review of its

existing intemal accounting controls, policies and procedures, regarding compliance with 18

U.S.C. $ 23398 and other applicable anti-terrorism laws. Where necessary and appropriate,

Lafarge agrees to modify its existing compliance programs, including internal controls,

compliance policies and procedures, in order to ensure that it maintains: (a) an effective system

of internal accounting controls designed to ensure the making and keeping of fair and accurate

books, records and accounts; and (b) a rigorous anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance program
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that incorporates relevant internal accounting controls, as well as policies and procedures

designed to effectively detect and deter violations of l8 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other applicable

anti-terrorism laws and trade sanctions. The compliance programs, including the internal

accounting controls systems, will include, but not be limited to, the minimum elements set forth

in Attachment C to this Agreement.

9. Lafarge represents that it has implemented and will continue to implement

a compliance and ethics program designed to prevent and detect violations of l8 U.S.C. $ 23398

and other applicable anti-terrorism laws throughout its operations, including those of its affiliates

and joint ventures under Lafarge's control, including, but not limited to, the minimum elements

set forth in Attachment C to this Agreement, and that it will ensure that its agents and contractors

and subcontractors whose responsibilities include activities carrying a high risk of contact with

foreign terrorist organizations maintain similar programs, and that it will report to the Office and

NSD as set forth in Attachment D to this Agreement.

10. Accordingly, after considering Paragraphs 7 , 8 and 9 above, the Office and

NSD have determined that a guilty plea by each Defendant to the charge in the Information, a

total financial penalty of $777 .78 million, consisting of a total criminal fine of $90.78 million

and forfeiture of $687 million, and a three-year term of probation, is sufficient but not greater

than necessary to achieve the purposes described in 18 U.S.C. $ 3553.

1L Based on the Defendants' remediation, including particularly the

wholesale replacement of legacy Lafarge's compliance program and internal controls with

Holcim's, and the enhancements to Holcim's compliance program and intemal controls

following Holcim's discovery of the misconduct, and based on the Office's and NSD's

assessment of the current state of Lafarge's compliance program and internal controls, including
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ensuring that its compliance programs will satisfy the minimum elements set forth in Attachment

C to this Agreement ("Corporate Compliance Reporting"), and the Defendants' risk profile,

including Lafarge's agreement to report to the Office and NSD as set forth in Attachment D to

this Agreement ("Reporting Requirements"), the Office and NSD have determined that the

appointment of an independent compliance monitor is unnecessary.

12. The Defendants agree to abide by all terms and obligations of the

Agreement as described herein, including, but not limited to, the following:

a. to plead guilty as set forth in the Agreement;

b. to abide by all sentencing stipulations contained in the Agreement;

c. to appear, through their duly appointed representatives, as ordered

for all court appearances, and to obey any other ongoing court order in this matter, consistent

with all applicable U.S. and foreign laws, procedures and regulations;

d. to commit no further crimes;

e. to be truthful at all times with the Court;

f. to pay the applicable fine, forfeiture and special assessment;

g. to cooperate fully with the Office and NSD as described in

Paragraphs l4 through 15;

h. to implement or maintain a compliance program as described in

Paragraphs 8 and 9 and Attachment C; and

i. to report to the Office and NSD once per year during a term of

three years, beginning on the date of sentencing and subject to extension under the terms of this

Agreement, regarding remediation and implementation of the compliance measures described in

Attachment C, prepared in accordance with Attachment D of this Agreement.
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13. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the parties in connection with a

particular transaction, the Defendants agree that in the event that, during the Term of the

Agreement, they undertake any change in corporate form, including if they sell, merge or

transfer business operations that represent greater than 1TYo ofLafarge's annual consolidated

revenue in the fiscal year preceding the sale, merger or transfer, whether such sale is structured

as a sale, asset sale, merger, transfer or other change in corporate form, they shall include in any

contract for sale, merger, transfer or other change in corporate form a provision binding the

purchaser, or any successor in interest thereto, to the obligations described in this Agreement. In

any such transaction, the purchaser or successor in interest must also agree in writing that the

Office's and NSD's ability to declare a breach under this Agreement is applicable in full force to

that entity. The Defendants agree that the failure to include these provisions in the transaction

will make any such transaction null and void. The Defendants shall provide notice to the Office

and NSD at least 30 days prior to undertaking any such sale, merger, transfer or other change in

corporate form. If the Office or NSD notifies the Defendants prior to such transaction (or series

of transactions) that they have determined that the transaction or transactions have the effect of

circumventing or frustrating the enforcement purposes of this Agreement, as determined in the

sole discretion of the Office and NSD, the Defendants agree that such transaction or transactions

will not be consummated. In addition, if at any time during the Term of the Agreement, the

Office and NSD determine in their sole discretion that the Defendants have engaged in a

transaction or transactions that have the effect of circumventing or frustrating the enforcement

purposes of this Agreement, they may deem them a breach of this Agreement pursuant to

Paragraphs 3l through 34 of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall restrict the Defendants from

indemnifying (or otherwise holding harmless) the purchaser or successor in interest for penalties
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or other costs arising from any conduct that may have occurred prior to the date of the

transaction, so long as such indemnification does not have the effect of circumventing or

frustrating the enforcement purposes of this Agreement, as determined by the Office and NSD.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph, it is expressly agreed that (a) without further

notice to, or consent by, the Office or NSD, LCS may be fully dissolved as a corporate entity,

and (b) Holcim is permitted to transfer assets between and among its subsidiaries, including

Lafarge, provided that such transfers do not violate or frustrate the purposes of this Agreement,

including but not limited to the obligations undertaken by Lafarge in Attachment B.

14. The Defendants shall, subject to applicable law and regulations, cooperate

fully with the Office and NSD in any and all matters relating to the conduct described in the

Agreement and the Statement of Facts and other related conduct under investigation by the

Office, NSD or any other component of the Department of Justice at any time until the later of

(a) the end of the Term, or (b) with respect to cooperation related to an ongoing prosecution, the

date upon which all prosecutions arising out of such conduct are concluded. At the request of the

Office or NSD, the Defendants shall also cooperate fully with other domestic law enforcement

and regulatory authorities and agencies in any investigation of the Defendants, their affiliates or

any of their present or former officers, directors, employees, agents and consultants, or any other

party, in any and all matters relating to the conduct described in this Agreement and the

Statement of Facts and any other related conduct under investigation by the Office, NSD or any

other component of the Department of Justice. The Defendants' cooperation pursuant to this

paragraph is subject to applicable laws and regulations, as well as valid claims of attorney-client

privilege or attorney work product doctrine. However, the Defendants must provide to the

Office and NSD a log of any information or cooperation that is not provided based on an
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asseftion of law, regulation or privilege, and the Defendants bear the burden of establishing the

validity of any such assertion. The Defendants agree that their cooperation pursuant to this

paragraph shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

a. The Defendants shall truthfully disclose all factual information not

protected by a valid claim of attorney-client privilege or work product doctrine with respect to

their activities, those of their subsidiaries, and those of their present and former directors,

officers, employees, agents and consultants, including any evidence or allegations and internal or

extemal investigations, about which the Defendants have any knowledge or about which the

Office orNSD may inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure includes, but is not limited to,

the obligation of the Defendants to provide to the Office and NSD, upon request, any document,

record or other tangible evidence about which the office or NSD may inquire.

b. Upon request of the Office or NSD, the Defendants shall designate

knowledgeable employees, agents or attorneys to provide to the Office and NSD the information

and materials described in Paragraph 1a(a) above on behalf of the Defendants. It is further

understood that the Defendants must always provide complete, truthful and accurate information.

c. The Defendants shall use their best efforts to make available for

interviews or testimony in any criminal or civil case involving the Office or NSD, as requested

by the Office or NSD, present or former officers, directors, employees, agents and consultants of

the Defendants. This obligation includes, but is not limited to, swom testimony before a federal

grand jury or in federal trials, as well as interviews with law enforcement and regulatory

authorities. Cooperation under this paragraph shall include identification of witnesses who, to
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the knowledge of the Defendants, may have material information regarding the matters under

investigation.

d. With respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or

other tangible evidence provided to the Office or NSD pursuant to this Agreement, the

Defendants consent to any and all disclosures, subject to applicable law and regulations, to other

governmental authorities, including United States authorities and those of a foreign government,

of such materials as the Office or NSD, in their sole discretion, shall deem appropriate.

e. The Defendants shall not, without the prior written consent of the

Office and NSD, move the Court for early termination of their term of Probation under l8 U.S.C

$ 3s6a(c).

15. In addition to the obligations in Paragraph 14, during the Term, should the

Defendants leam of any evidence of conduct by the Defendants or by their joint ventures,

subsidiaries, employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors, other than the conduct described

in the Agreement, the Information and the Statement of Facts, that may constitute a violation of

18 U.S.C. $ 23398 or other applicable U.S. anti-terrorism laws, the Defendants shall promptly

report such evidence or allegation to the Office and NSD. Thirty days prior to the end of the

Term, the Defendants, by the Chair of the Board, will certify, in the form of executing the

document attached as Attachment E to this Agreement, to the Office and NSD that the

Defendants have met their disclosure obligations pursuant to this paragraph. Each certification

will be deemed a material statement and representation by the Defendants to the executive
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branchoftheUnitedStatesforthepurposesof l8U.S.C. $$ 1001 and l5lg,anditwill be

deemed to have been made in the judicial district in which this Agreement is filed.

16. The Defendants agree that the fine that will be imposed by the Court will

be due and payable as specified in Paragraph 30(a) below, that the Forfeiture Money Judgment

due under the Order of Forfeiture that will be imposed by the Court will be due and payable as

specified in Paragraphs 22 through2S. The Defendants further agree that each Defendant will

pay to the Clerk of the Court for the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New

York the mandatory special assessment of $400 (pursuant to l8 U.S.C. $ 3013(a)(2XB)) within

l0 business days ofthe date ofsentencing.

THE

17. In exchange for the guilty pleas of the Defendants and the complete

fulfillment of all their obligations under this Agreement, the Office and NSD agree that they will

not file additional criminal charges against the Defendants or any of their direct or indirect

parents, corporate affiliates or subsidiaries relating to any of the conduct described in this

Agreement, the Information or the Statement of Facts. The Office and NSD may, however, use

any information related to the above-referenced conduct against the Defendants: (a) in a

prosecution for perjury or obstruction ofjustice; (b) in a prosecution for making a false

statement; (c) in a prosecution or other proceeding relating to any crime of violence; or (d) in a

prosecution or other proceeding relating to a violation of any provision of Title 26 of the United

States Code. This Agreement does not provide any protection against prosecution for any future

conduct by the Defendants or any of their direct or indirect parents or subsidiaries. In addition,

this Agreement does not provide any protection against prosecution of any individuals,

regardless of their affiliation with the Defendants. The Defendants agree that nothing in this
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Agreement is intended to release the Defendants from any of the Defendants' tax liabilities and

reporting obligations for any and all income not properly reported and/or legally or illegally

obtained or derived.

FACTUAL BASIS

18. The Defendants are pleading guilty because they are guilty of the charge

contained in the Information. The Defendants admit, agree and stipulate that the factual

allegations set forth in the Information and the Statement of Facts are true and correct, that they

are responsible for the acts of their officers, directors, employees and agents described in the

Information and the Statement of Facts, and that the Information and the Statement of Facts

accurately reflect the Defendants' criminal conduct.

THE D , WAIVER OF RIG , INCLUDING THE RI TO APPEAI,

19. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 1 1 (f) and Federal Rule of Evidence

410 limit the admissibility of statements made during plea proceedings or plea discussions in

both civil and criminal proceedings if the guilty plea is later withdrawn. The Defendants

expressly warrant that they have discussed these rules with their counsel and understand them.

Solely to the extent set forth below, the Defendants voluntarily waive and give up the rights

enumerated in Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure I I (f) and Federal Rule of Evidence 4l 0. The

Defendants agree that, effective as of the date the Defendants sign this Agreement, they will not

dispute the Statement of Facts set forth in this Agreement, and that the Statement of Facts shall

be admissible against the Defendants in any criminal or civil case in which the Office or NSD is

aparty, as: (a) substantive evidence offered by the government in its case-in-chief and rebuttal

case; (b) impeachment evidence offered by the government on cross-examination; and (c)

evidence at any sentencing hearing or other hearing. The Defendants also agree not to assert in
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any such proceeding any claim under the Federal Rules of Evidence (including Rule 4l 0 of the

Federal Rules of Evidence), the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (including Rule I 1 of the

Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure) or the United States Sentencing Guidelines (including

U.S.S.G. $ lBl.l (a)) that the Statement of Facts set forth in this Agreement should be

suppressed or is otherwise inadmissible as evidence in any form. In addition, the Defendants

agree not to contradict anything in the Statement of Facts at any such proceeding, or in any

proceeding brought by a foreign law enforcement authority. Specifically, the Defendants

understand and agree that if, even though the Office and NSD have fulfilled all of their

obligations under this Agreement and the Court has imposed the agreed-upon sentence, the

Defendants nevertheless withdraw their guilty pleas, any statements that they make during their

guilty pleas or in connection with the Agreement are admissible against them for any purpose in

any such U.S. criminal or civil proceeding. This Agreement does not prevent the Defendants

from raising legal defenses and arguments in other proceedings, including objecting to the

admission of the Statement of Facts, provided that the Defendants may not contradict the facts

set forth in the Statement of Facts.

20. The Defendants are satisfied that the Defendants' attorneys have rendered

effective assistance of counsel. The Defendants understand that by entering into this Agreement,

the Defendants surrender certain rights as provided in this Agreement. The Defendants

understand that the rights of criminal defendants include the following:

a. the right to plead not guilty and to persist in that plea;

b. the right to a jury trial;

c. the right to be represented by counsel-and if necessary to have

the court appoint counsel-at trial and at every other stage of the proceedings;
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d. the right at trial to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses,

to be protected from compelled self-incrimination, to testify and present evidence, and to compel

the attendance of witnesses; and

e. pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742,the right to

appeal the sentence imposed.

Nonetheless, the Defendants knowingly waive the right to appeal or collaterally attack the

conviction and any sentence within the statutory maximum described below (or the way that

sentence was determined) on the grounds set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section3742,

or on any ground whatsoever except those specifically excluded in this paragraph, in exchange

for the concessions made by the Office and NSD in this Agreement. The Agreement does not

affect the rights or obligations of the Office and NSD as set forth in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3742(b). The Defendants also knowingly waive the right to bring any collateral attack

challenging either their convictions or the sentences imposed in this case. The Defendants

hereby waive all rights, whether asserted directly or by a representative, to request or receive

from any department or agency of the United States any records pertaining to the investigation or

prosecution of this case, including without limitation any records that may be sought under the

Freedom of Information AcL Title 5, United States Code, Section 552, or the Privacy Act, Title

5, United States Code, Section 552a. The Defendants waive all defenses based on the statute of

limitations and venue with respect to any prosecution related to the conduct described in the

Information and the Statement of Facts, including any prosecution that is not time-barred on the

date that this Agreement is signed, in the event that: (a) the conviction is later vacated for any

reason; (b) the Defendants violate the Agreement; or (c) the pleas are later withdrawn, provided

such prosecution is brought within one year of any such vacatur of conviction, violation of the
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Agreement or withdrawal of plea plus the remaining time period of the statute of limitations as of

the date when this Agreement is signed. The Office and NSD are free to take any position on

appeal or any other post-judgment matter. The parties agree that any challenge to the

Defendants' sentence that is not foreclosed by this paragraph will be limited to that portion of the

sentencing calculation that is inconsistent with (or not addressed by) this waiver. Nothing in the

foregoing waiver of appellate and collateral review rights shall preclude the Defendants from

raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in an appropriate forum.

PENALTY

21. The statutory maximum sentence that the Court can impose for a violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 23398(a)(l), is: a fine equalto the greater of $500,000

or twice the gross pecuniary gain or gross pecuniary loss resulting from the offense (Title 18,

United States Code, Sections 3571(c) and (d)); five years' probation (Title 18, United States

Code, Section 3561(c)( I )); and a mandatory special assessment of $400 per count (Title I 8,

United States Code, Section 3013(a)(2)(B)). In this case, the parties agree that the gross

pecuniary gain resulting from the offense is $80.54 million. Therefore, pursuant to l8 U.S.C.

$ 3571(d), the maximum fine that may be imposed on each of the Defendants is twice the gross

pecuniary gain, or $ l6l .08 million, per offense.

FORFEITURE

22. The Defendants acknowledge that they had or have property that is subject

to forfeiture as a result of their violations of l8 U.S.C. $ 2339B(a)(l), as alleged in the

Information. The Defendants consent to the entry of a forfeiture money judgment in the amount

of six hundred eighty-seven million dollars andzero cents ($687,000,000.00) (the "Forfeiture

Money Judgment"). The Defendants agree that the amount of the Forfeiture Money Judgment

16

Case 1:22-cr-00444-WFK   Document 10   Filed 10/18/22   Page 16 of 32 PageID #: 34



and any payments toward the Forfeiture Money Judgment represent one or more of the

following: (a) property, real and/or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained

directly or indirectly as aresultof such offense; (b) assets, foreign and/ordomestic, of any

person, entity or organization engaged in planning or perpetuating any Federal crime of terrorism

(as defined in 18 U.S.C . $ 2332b(g)(5)) against the United States, citizens or residents of the

United States, or their property, and assets, foreign and/or domestic, affording any person a

source of influence over any such entity or organization; (c) assets, foreign and/or domestic,

acquired or maintained by any person, entity, or organization with the intent and for the purpose

of supporting, planning, conducting or concealing any Federal crime of terrorism (as defined in

18 U.S.C. $ 2332b(g)(5)) against the United States, citizens or residents of the United States, or

their property; (d) assets, foreign and/or domestic, derived from, involved in, or used or intended

to be used to commit any Federal crime of terrorism (as defined in 18 U.S.C. g 2332b(g)(5))

against the United States, citizens or residents of the United States, or their property; (e) assets,

foreign and/or domestic, of any person, entity or organization engaged in planning or

perpetuatingany act of internationalterrorism (as defined in l8 U.S.C. $ 2331) against any

international organization (as defined in 18 U.S.C. $ 4309(b)) or against any foreign

Government; and/or (f substitute assets as defined in 21 U.S.C. $ 853(p), and thus are forfeitable

to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $$ 981(a)(1)(C) and 981(a)(l)(G),21 U.S.C. $ 853(p)

and 28 U.S.C. $ 2461(c), in any administrative and/orjudicial (civil or criminal) proceeding(s) at

the Office's exclusive discretion. The Defendants consent to the entry of an Order of Forfeiture,
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pursuant to Rule 32.2 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, imposing the Forfeiture

Money Judgment.

23. The Forfeiture Money Judgment shall be paid in full on or before

November 14,2022 (the "Due Date"). All payments made by the Defendants toward the

Forfeiture Money Judgment shall be made by wire transfer, money order, certified check and/or

official bank check, payable to the "U.S. Marshals Service." Payment(s) made by wire transfer

shall be made pursuant to written instructions provided by the Office. All other payment(s) shall

be sent by overnight mail delivery to Assistant United States Attorney Artemis Lekakis, United

States Attomey's Office, Eastern District of New York,27l-ACadman PlazaEast,Brooklyn,

New York 11201, with the criminal docket number noted on the face of the instrument. The

Defendants consent to the restraint of all payments made toward the Forfeiture Money Judgment.

The Defendants also waive all statutory deadlines, including but not limited to deadlines set forth

in l8 U.S.C. $ 983. Each of the Defendants shall be jointly and severally liable for the full

amount of the Forfeiture Money Judgment.

24. If the Defendants fail to pay any portion of the Forfeiture Money

Judgment on or before the Due Date, the Defendants consent to the forfeiture of any other

property of theirs up to the amount of the unpaid Forfeiture Money Judgment, pursuant to 21

u.s.c. $ 853(p), and further agree that the conditions of 21 u.s.c. gg 853(pxl)(A)-(E) have

been met.

25. The Defendants agree to fully assist the government in effectuating the

payment of the Forfeiture Money Judgment by, among other things, executing any documents

necessary to effectuate payment and transfer of title to the United States. The Defendants agree

not to file a claim or petition seeking remission or contesting the forfeiture of any property
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against which the government seeks to satisfy the Forfeiture Money Judgment in any

administrative or judicial (civil or criminal) proceeding. The Defendants further agree not to

assist any person, organization or entity in the filing of any claim or petition seeking remission or

contesting the forfeiture of any property against which the government seeks to satisfu the

Forfeiture Money Judgment in any administrative or judicial (civil or criminal) forfeiture

proceeding.

26. The failure of the Defendants to forfeit the Forfeiture Money Judgment as

required under this Agreement, including the failure of the Defendants to execute any document

to accomplish the same on timely notice to do so, may constitute a material breach of this

agreement. Upon such a breach, the Defendants will not be entitled to withdraw the plea, but the

Office may bring additional criminal charges against the Defendants.

27. The Defendants knowingly and voluntarily waive their right to any

required notice concerning the forfeiture of the Forfeiture Money Judgment, including notice

under 18 U.S.C. $ 983 and notice set forth in an indictment or information. In addition, the

Defendants knowingly and voluntarily waive their right, if any, to a jury trial on the forfeiture of

the Forfeiture Money Judgment, and waive all constitutional, legal and equitable defenses to the

forfeiture of the Forfeiture Money Judgment, including, but not limited to, any defenses based on

principles of double jeopardy, the Ex Post Facto clause of the Constitution, any statute of

limitations, venue or any defense under the Eighth Amendment, including a claim of excessive

fines.

28. The Defendants agree that the entry and payment of the Forfeiture Money

Judgment are not to be considered payment of a fine, penalty, restitution loss amount or any

income taxes that may be due, and shall survive bankruptcy.

t9
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SENTENCING

29. The Defendants understand that, although imposition of a sentence in

accordance with the United States Sentencing Guidelines is not mandatory, the Guidelines are

advisory and the Court is required to consider any applicable Guidelines provisions as well as

other factors enumerated in l8 U.S.C. $ 3553(a) to arrive at an appropriate sentence in this case.

The Office and NSD will advise the Court and the Probation Department of information relevant

to sentencing, including criminal activity engaged in by the Defendants, and such information

may be used by the Court in determiningthe Defendants' sentences. See l8 U.S.C. $ 3661 ('No

limitation shall be placed on the information concerning the background, character, and conduct

of a person convicted of an offense which a court of the United States may receive and consider

for the purpose of imposing an appropriate sentence."). Because the Guidelines provision for 18

U.S.C. $ 23398 is U.S.S.G. $ 2M5.3 ("Providing Material Support or Resources to Designated

Foreign Terrorist Organizations or Specially Designated Global Terrorists, or For a Terrorist

Purpose"), which is not one of the enumerated offense Guidelines to which the organizational

fine Guidelines apply under U.S.S.G. $ 8C2.1 , the parties agree that the provisions of l8 U.S.C.

$S 3553 and3572 control the imposition of an appropriate sentence, pursuant to U.S.S.G.

$ 8C2.10. This Guidelines analysis is not binding on the Office, NSD, the Probation Department

or the Court. If the Guidelines analysis advocated by the Office and NSD, or determined by the

Probation Department or the Court, is, for any reason, including an error in this Agreement,

different, the Defendants will not be entitled to withdraw the plea, and the government will not

be deemed to have breached this Agreement. The Defendants also understand that if the Court

accepts this Agreement, the Court is bound under Rule l1(c)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of

Criminal Procedure to impose the sentence agreed upon by the parties in Paragraph 30.
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30. Pursuant to Rule 11(c)(l)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,

the Office, NSD and the Defendants agree, based on the factors under 18 U.S.C. $ 3553(a), that

the following sentence represents the appropriate disposition of the case, and agree to jointly

request that the Court, at a hearing to be scheduled at an agreed-upon time, impose the following

sentence on the Defendants:

a. Fine. Pursuant to l8 U.S.C. $ 3571(d), the Office, NSD and the

Defendants agree that the appropriate criminal fine is the amount of forty-five million, three-

hundred-ninety thousand dollars and zero cents ($45,390,000.00) to be imposed on each of

Defendant Lafarge and Defendant LCS. The Defendants agree that the total amount of the fines

imposed on each of the Defendants, specifically ninety million, seven-hundred-eighty thousand

dollars and zero cents ($90,780,000.00) (the "Total Criminal Fine"), will be due and payable by

the Defendants on or before November 14,2022.

b. Forfeiture. Pursuantto 18 U.S.C. $$ 981(a)(l)(C) and

981(a)(1)(G),21 U.S.C. $ 853(p), and 28 U.S.C. $ 2461(c), the Defendants consent to the entry

of an Order of Forfeiture requiring them to pay the Forfeiture Money Judgment of $687 million

under the terms set forth at Paragraphs 22 through 28.

c. No Reimbursement. The Defendants shall not seek or accept,

directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any source regarding the fine or

forfeiture amounts that Defendants pay pursuant to the Agreement. The Defendants further

acknowledge that no tax deduction may be sought in connection with the payment of any part of

this fine.

2t
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d. Mandatory SpecialAssessment. The Defendants shall each pay to

the Clerk of the Court for the United States District Court for the Eastem District of New York

within l0 days of the date of sentencing the mandatory specialassessment of $400.

e. Probation. Pursuantto 18 U.S.C. $ 3561(cXl), the Office,NSD

and the Defendants agree to request that the Court impose on the Defendants a term of three

years' probation. The Office, NSD and the Defendants further agree that pursuant to l8 U.S.C.

$ 3563(bX22) the following conditions of probation are appropriate in this case, and agree to

request that the Court impose these conditions at sentencing: (1) the Defendants shall pay the

Total Criminal Fine, the Forfeiture Money Judgment and their respective Mandatory Special

Assessments as set forth in this Agreem ent; (2) the Defendants shall comply with all of the

provisions of this Agreement, including without limitation the Defendants' obligations under

Paragraphs 8,9, 12, l3 and 35 of this Agreement, and with the cooperation provisions of

Paragraphs 14 and l5 of this Agreement; and (3) pursuant to l8 U.S.C. $ 3563(a)(l), the

Defendants shall not commit any federal, state or local crimes during the term of probation.

f. Rule I l(c)(l)(C). This Agreement is presented to the Court

pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. I l(c)(l)(C). The Defendants understand that, if the Court rejects

this Agreement, the Court must: (a) inform the parties that the Court rejects the Agreement; (b)

advise the Defendants' counsel that the Court is not required to follow the Agreement and afford

the Defendants the opportunity to withdraw their pleas; and (c) advise the Defendants that, if the

plea is not withdrawn, the Court may dispose of the case less favorably toward the Defendants

than the Agreement contemplated. The Defendants further understand that, if the Court refuses

to accept any provision of this Agreement, no party shall be bound by the provisions of the

Agreement.
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g. Waiver of Pre-Sentence Investisation Report. The Office, NSD

and the Defendants waive the preparation of a Pre-Sentence Investigation Report ("PSR") and

intend to seek a sentencing by the Court immediately following the Rule l1 hearing in the

absence of a PSR. The Defendants understand that whether to proceed with the sentencing

proceeding without a PSR is exclusively the decision of the Court. In the event the Court directs

the preparation of a PSR, the Office and NSD will fully inform the preparer of the PSR and the

Court of the facts and law related to the Defendants' case.

BREACH OF AGREEMENT

31. lf the Defendants (a) commit any felony under U.S. federal law; (b)

provide in connection with this Agreement deliberately false, incomplete or misleading

information; (c) fail to pay the Total Criminal Penalty, Forfeiture Money Judgment or Mandatory

Special Assessments; (d) make any public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the

acceptance of responsibility by the Defendants set forth above or the facts described in the

lnformation and the Statement of Facts in violation of Paragraph 35 of this Agreement; (e) failto

cooperate as set forth in Paragraphs 14 and 15 of this Agreement; (0 fail to implement a

compliance program and report to the Office and NSD as set forth in Paragraphs 8, 9, 12 and 13

of this Agreement and Attachment C and Attachment D to this Agreement; (g) commit any acts

that, had they occurred within the jurisdictional reach of 1 8 U.S.C. $ 23398, would be a

violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 23398; or (h) otherwise fail specifically to perform or to fulfill

completely each of the Defendants' obligations under the Agreement, regardless of whether the

Office and NSD become aware of such a breach after the Term, the Defendants shall thereafter

be subject to prosecution for any federal criminal violation of which the Office or NSD has

knowledge, which may be pursued by the Office, NSD or any other component of the

/.5
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Department of Justice. Determination of whether the Defendants have breached the Agreement

and whether to pursue prosecution of the Defendants shall be in the Office's and NSD's sole

discretion. Any such prosecution may be premised on information provided by the Defendants

or their personnel. Any such prosecution relating to the conduct described in the lnformation

and the attached Statement of Facts or relating to conduct known to the Office or NSD prior to

the date on which this Agreement was signed that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of

limitations on the date of the signing of this Agreement may be commenced against the

Defendants, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of limitations, between the signing of

this Agreement and the expiration of the Term of the Agreement plus one year. Thus, by signing

this Agreement, the Defendants agree that the statute of limitations with respect to any such

prosecution that is not time-barred on the date of the signing of this Agreement shall be tolled for

the Term of the Agreement plus one year. The Defendants give up all defenses based on the

statute of limitations, any claim of pre-indictment delay, or any speedy trial claim with respect to

any such prosecution or action, exceptto the extentthat such defenses existed as ofthe date of

the signing of this Agreement. In addition, the Defendants agree that the statute of limitations as

to any violation of federal law that occurs during the term of the cooperation obligations

provided for in Paragraphs 14 and 15 of the Agreement will be tolled from the date upon which

the violation occurs until the earlier of the date upon which the Office and NSD are made aware

of the violation or the duration of the Term plus five years, and that this period shall be excluded

from any calculation of time for purposes of the application of the statute of limitations.

32. In the event the Office and NSD determine that the Defendants have

breached this Agreement, the Office and NSD agree to provide the Defendants written notice of

such breach prior to instituting any prosecution resulting from such breach. Within 30 days of
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receipt of such notice, the Defendants shall have the opportunity to respond to the Office and

NSD in writing to explain the nature and circumstances of such breach, as well as the actions the

Defendants have taken to address and remediate the breach, which explanation the Office and

NSD shall consider in determining whether to pursue prosecution of the Defendants.

33. If the Office and NSD determine that the Defendants have breached this

Agreement: (a) all statements made by or on behalf of the Defendants to the Office, NSD or the

Court, including the Information and the Statement of Facts, and any testimony given by the

Defendants before a grand jury, a court or any tribunal, or at any legislative hearings, whether

prior or subsequent to this Agreement, and any leads derived from such statements or testimony,

shall be admissible in evidence in any and all criminal proceedings brought by the Office and

NSD against the Defendants; and (b) the Defendants shall not assert any claim under the United

States Constitution, Rule l1(f of the FederalRules of CriminalProcedure, Rule 410 of the

Federal Rules of Evidence or any other federal rule that any such statements or testimony made

by or on behalf of the Defendants prior or subsequent to entering this Agreement, or any leads

derived therefrom, should be suppressed or are otherwise inadmissible. The decision as to

whether conduct or statements of any current director, officer or employee, or any person acting

on behalf of, or at the direction of, the Defendants, will be imputed to the Defendants for the

purpose of determining whether the Defendants have violated any provision of this Agreement

shall be in the sole discretion of the Office and NSD.

34. The Defendants acknowledge that the Office and NSD have made no

representations, assurances or promises concerning what sentence may be imposed by the Court

if the Defendants breach this Agreement. The Defendants further acknowledge that any such
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sentence is solely within the discretion of the Court and that nothing in this Agreement binds or

restricts the Court in the exercise of such discretion.

BY THE DEF

35. The Defendants expressly agree that they shall not, through present or

future attorneys, officers, directors, employees, agents or any other person authorized to speak

for the Defendants, make any public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the

acceptance of responsibility by the Defendants set forth above or the facts described in the

Information and the Statement of Facts. Any such contradictory statement shall, subject to cure

rights of the Defendants described below, constitute a breach of this Agreement, and the

Defendants thereafter shall be subject to prosecution as set forth in Paragraphs 31 to 34 of this

Agreement. The decision as to whether any public statement by any such person contradicting a

fact contained in the Information or the Statement of Facts will be imputed to the Defendants for

the purpose of determining whether they have breached this Agreement shall be at the sole

discretion of the Office and NSD. If the Office and NSD determine that a public statement by

any such person contradicts in whole or in part a statement contained in the Information or the

Statement of Facts, the Office and NSD shall so notifu the Defendants, and the Defendants may

avoid a breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement(s) within five business

days after notification. As set forth in Paragraph 19, the Defendants shall be permitted to raise

defenses and to assert affirmative claims in other proceedings relating to the facts set forth in the

Information and the Statement of Facts provided that such defenses and claims do not contradict,

in whole or in part, a statement contained in the lnformation or the Statement of Facts. This

paragraph does not apply to any statement made by any present or former officer, director,

employee or agent of the Defendants in his or her personatcapacity in the course of any criminal,
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regulatory or civil case initiated against such individual, unless such individual is speaking on

behalf of one or both Defendants.

36. The Defendants agree that if they, their parents, or any of their direct or

indirect subsidiaries or affiliates over which the Defendants exercise control issues a press

release or holds any press conference in connection with this Agreement, the Defendants shall

first consult the Office and NSD to determine (a) whether the text of the release or proposed

statements at the press conference are true and accurate; and (b) whether the Office and NSD

have any objection to the release or statement.
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COMPLETE AGREEMENT

37. This document, including its attachments, states the full extent of the

Agreement. There are no other promises or agreements, express or implied. Any modification

of this Agreement shall be valid only if set forth in writing in a supplemental or revised plea

agreement signed by all parties.

AGREED:

FOR LAFARGE S.A.:

ox", l0 ll t o2 Z By
MagaliAnderson
Chair, Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer
Lafarge S.A.

Date: I d 'lY' 1-7- By:

David Sarratt
Douglas S. Zolkind
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Counsel for Lafarge S.A.

FOR LAFARGE CEMENT SYRIA S.A.:

Date \0. 18. uLI- By:

on behalf of Lafarge Cement Syria S.A.

Date: /0'l/" vt- By

Sarratt
Douglas S. Zolkind
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Counsel for Lafarge S.A.
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FOR THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE:

BREON PEACE
United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York

Allon Lifshitz
Alexander A. Solomon
Ian C. Richardson
Joshua Hafetz
Assistant United States Attorneys

Date: lr> ?-oLL

MATTHEW G. OLSEN
Assistant Attorney General
National Security Division

U*tn{W
Matthew Blue
Chief, Counterterrorism Section
National Security Division
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COMPANY OFFICER' S CERTIFICATE

I have read the plea agreement among Lafarge S.A. and Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. (the

"Defendants") and the United States of America, by and through the United States Attorney's

Office for the Eastern District of New York and the United States Department of Justice,

National Security Division (the "Agreement") and carefully reviewed every part of it with

outside counsel for the applicable Defendant. I understand the terms of the Agreement and

voluntarily agree, on behalf of the applicable Defendant, to its terms. Before signing the

Agreement, I consulted outside counsel for the applicable Defendant. Counsel fully advised me

of the rights of the Defendants, of possible defenses, of the United States Sentencing Guidelines'

provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this Agreement.

I have carefully reviewed the terms of the Agreement with the Board of Directors of

Lafarge. I have advised and caused outside counsel to advise the Board of Directors of Lafarge

fully of the rights of the Defendants, of possible defenses, of the United States Sentencing

Guidelines'provisions, and of the consequences of entering into the Agreement.

No promises or inducements have been made other than those contained in the

Agreement. Furthermore, no one has threatened or forced me, or to my knowledge any person

authorizing the Agreement on behalf of the applicable Defendant, in any way to enter into the

Agreement. I am also satisfied with outside counsel's representation in this matter. I certify that
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I am the Chair of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Lafarge S.A., and that I

have been duly authorized by the applicable Defendant to execute the Agreement on behalf of

the applicable Defendant.

Date: lC.tl 1,1 
or

LAFARGE S.A.

Magali Anderson
Chair, Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer
Lafarge S.A.

LAFARGE CEMENT S.A.

By

on behalf of Lafarge Cement Syria S.A.
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CERTIFICATE OF COLINSEL

I am counsel for Lafarge S.A. and Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. (the "Defendants") in the

matter covered by the plea agreement between the Defendants and the United States of America,

by and through the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York and the

United States Department of Justice, National Security Division (the "Agreement"). In

connection with such representation, I have examined relevant documents and have discussed the

terms of the Agreement with the Board of Directors of Lafarge. Based on our review of the

foregoing materials and discussions, I am of the opinion that the representatives of the

Defendants have been duly authorizedto enter into the Agreement on behalf of Lafarge S.A., and

acting on behalf of its subsidiary Lafarge Cement Syria S.A., and that the Agreement has been

duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered on behalf of the Defendants as set forth in

Attachment B hereto, and is a valid and binding obligation of the Defendants. Further, I have

carefully reviewed the terms of the Agreement with the Board of Directors of Lafarge. I have

fully advised them of the rights of the Defendants, of possible defenses, of the Sentencing

Guidelines'provisions, and of the consequences of entering into the Agreement. To my

knowledge, the decision of the Defendants to enter into the Agreement, based on the

authorization of the Board of Directors, is an informed and voluntary one.

Dxe: /Ct '/[ 'zz- By:
Jo
Sarratt

Douglas S. Zolkind
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Counsel for Lafarge S.A.
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I.

ATTACHMENT A

STATEMENT OF FACTS

INTRODUCTION

and the Princ Co-

l. Defendant LAFARGE S.A. ("LAFARGE") was the parent company of

multinational building materials subsidiary businesses and was organized under the laws of France

and headquartered in Paris, France. LAFARGE, together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries,

employed 63,000 people to manufacture and sell cement, construction aggregates, concrete and

other building materials at 1,612 production sites in approximately 61 countries. On July 10, 2015,

after the offense conduct described herein had ended, LAFARGE was acquired by its leading

competitor, Holcim Ltd. ("Holcim"), a Zurich, Switzerland-based multinationalbuilding materials

business. LAFARGE thereafter became a wholly owned subsidiary of Holcim.

2. Defendant LAFARGE CEMENT SYRIA S.A. ("LCS") was an indirect subsidiary

of LAFARGE organized under the laws of Syria and headquartered in Damascus, Syria.

LAFARGE indirectly owned approximately 98.7oh of LCS's issued and outstanding share capital

through four separate subsidiaries. From approximately May 2010 to September 2014,

LAFARGE, through LCS, operated a cement plant in the Jalabiyeh region of Syria, located in

Norlhern Syria near the Turkish border and between the cities of Manbij and Raqqah, Syria (the

"Jalabiyeh Cement Plant").

3 . Executive I was a citizen and national of France and was Vice President of Security

for LAFARGE from approximately October 2008 until September 2017. He was based at

LAFARGE's headquarters in Paris, France. Executive I was also a member of LAFARGE's

Security Committee.
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4. Executive 2 was a citizen and national of France and was an Executive Vice

President of Operations of LAFARGE from approximately January 2012 to December 2015. As

Executive Vice President of Operations, Executive 2 supervised LAFARGE's operating

subsidiaries in numerous countries, including LCS's operations in Syria. He was based at

LAFARGE's headquarters in Paris, France and reported directly to Executive 6. Executive 2 was

also a member of LAFARGE's Security Committee, and beginning on July 4,2013, served as

Chairman of the Board of Directors of LCS.

5. Executive 3 was a citizen and national of France and was CEO of LCS from

approximately 2008 to July 2014. While CEO of LCS, Executive 3 was based at LCS's

headquarters in Damascus, Syria before relocating to Cairo, Egypt in2012, and reported directly

to Executive 2.

6. Executive 4 was a citizen and national of France who became CEO of LCS in

approximately July 2014 and remained in that role until approximately January 2016. Executive 4

was based in Amman, Jordan and reported directly to Executive 2 until Executive 2 left

LAFARGE.

7 . Executive 5 was a citizen of the United States and of France, and was an Executive

Vice President of LAFARGE until January 2016. Executive 5 was also a member of LAFARGE's

Security Committee, and member of the Board of Directors of LCS until January 2016 and its

Chairman from 2008 until July 4,2013. He was based at LAFARGE's headquarters in Paris,

France and reported directly to Executive 6.

8. Executive 6 was acitizen and national of France and was Chairman of the Board

of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of LAFARGE untilthe completion of the acquisition by

Holcim in 2015. He was based at LAFARGE's headquarters in Paris, France.

2

I

Case 1:22-cr-00444-WFK   Document 10-1   Filed 10/18/22   Page 2 of 52 PageID #: 52



9. Intermediary 1 was a citizen and national of Syria and a minority shareholder in

LCS until the Syrian government first seized and later confiscated his shares in LCS in

approximately 2012. Intermediary I was paid by LCS, with LAFARGE's knowledge and

approval, to provide "security" services for LCS, which included negotiating with various local

armed militants, ultimately including the Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham ("ISIS") and the al-

Nusrah Front ("ANF").

10. Intermediary2was acitizenof Canadaandof SyriaandaformerconsultanttoLCS

who held himself out as a broker capable of sourcing raw materials from ISIS-controlled territories.

11. In-House Lawyer I was a citizen of France and was Regional Senior Counsel for

Africa & Middle East for LAFARGE based in its Paris, France headquarters from approximately

January 2009 to August 2015. He was responsible for advising Executive 2, Executive 3, and,

later, Executive 4 regarding LCS's operations in Syria.

II. The Foreign Terrorist Orsanizations

A. ISIS

12. On or about October 15, 2004, the United States Secretary of State designated al-

Qaeda in Iraq ("AQI"), then known as Jam'at al Tawhid Wa'al-Jihad, as a Foreign Terrorist

Organization ("FTO") under Section 219 of the Immigration and Nationality Act and as a Specially

Designated Global Terrorist entity under section 1(b) of Executive order 13224. On or about May

15,2014, the Secretary of State amended the designation of AQI as an FTO under Section 219 of

the Immigration and Nationality Act and as a Specially Designated Global Terrorist entity under

section I (b) of Executive Order 13224 to add the alias Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant ("ISIL")

as its primary name. The Secretary of State also added the following aliases to the FTO listing:

The Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham ("ISIS," which is how the FTO will be referenced herein),

J
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The Islamic State of lraq and Syria, ad-Dawla al-lslamiyya fi al-lraq wa-sh-Sham, Daesh, Dawla

al Islamiya, and Al-Furquan Establishment for Media Production. On September 21, 2015, the

Secretary added the following aliases to the FTO listing: lslamic State, ISIL and ISIS. To date,

ISIS has remained a designated FTO. ISIS has claimed credit for numerous terrorist activities.

B. Al-Nusrah Front

13. On December 11, 2012, the Secretary of State amended the 2004 designation of

AQI to include the following aliases: al-Nusrah Front ("ANF"), Jabhat al-Nusrah, Jabhet al-Nusra,

The Victory Front, and Al-Nusrah Front for the People of the Levant.

14. On May 15,2014, the Secretary of State, in response to the evolving nature of the

relationship between ANF and AQI, amended the FTO designation of AQI to remove all aliases

associated with al-Nusrah Front. Separately, the Secretary of State then designated al-Nusrah

Front, also known as Jabhat al-Nusrah, Jabhet al-Nusra, The Victory Front, Al-Nusrah Front for

the People of the Levant, Al-Nusrah Front in Lebanon, Support Front for the People of the Levant,

and Jabaht al-Nusra li-Ahl al-Sham min Mujahedi al-Sham fi Sahat al-Jihad, as an FTO under

Section 219 of the Immigration and Nationality Act and as a Specially Designated Global Terrorist

entity under section l(b) of Executive Order 13224. To date, ANF has remained a designated FTO.

SUMMARY OF THE OFFENSE

15. In or about 2011, after a civil war began in Syria, LCS, with the knowledge and

approval of LAFARGE, conspired to engage in transactions, through intermediaries, with

numerous armed factions present in the region of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant, ultimately including

the U.S.-designated foreign terrorist organizations ISIS and ANF. While other multinational

corporations withdrew from and ceased operations in Syria, LAFARGE and LCS executives,

through intermediaries, negotiated agreements to pay these armed groups to protect LCS

4
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employees, to ensure continued operation of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant, and to obtain economic

advantage over their competitors in the Syrian cement market. LAFARGE and LCS executives

conspired to make periodic security payments to armed groups, including ISIS and ANF, and to

purchase raw materials from ISlS-controlled suppliers who paid ISIS based on the amount of their

sales to LCS. Moreover, for the explicit purpose of incentivizing ISIS to act in a manner that

would promote LAFARGE's and LCS's security and economic interests, LAFARGE and LCS

conspired to make payments to ISIS based on the volume of cement that LCS sold-effectively a

revenue-sharing agreement that LAFARGE and LCS executives likened to paying "taxes" to ISIS.

In exchange, ISIS permitted access to raw materials sourced from territory under its control so that

the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant could continue to produce cement, and further allowed LCS

employees, suppliers and customer-distributors to safely pass through ISIS and ANF checkpoints

on the roads leading to the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. ISIS also agreed to impose costs on, and in

some cases block the importation of, competing cement from Turkey. Had LAFARGE and LCS

refused to deal with ISIS and ANF, LCS would not have been able to acquire the raw materials

needed to operate the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant and produce cement, and ISIS and ANF would have

used force and threats of force to prevent LCS's employees and customers from traveling there to

do their jobs and purchase the cement that LCS had produced.

16. LCS engaged in this conduct at the direction of LAFARGE's and LCS's senior

management, including Executive l, Executive 2, Executive 3 and Executive 4, forthe specific

purpose of protecting LAFARGE's and LCS's employees, assets, and future economic

opportunities in Syria. As Executive 3 laterwrote in an August27,2017 response to his August

25,2017, termination from LAFARGE, "All the local concessions that I had to make to this end

were made with the clear and repeated approval of my hierarchy, regarding the details as well as
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the principle." Executive 3 added, "Nothing I did was unknown to my hierarchy who methodically

approved my initiatives, including all the details, and was satisfied about them."l

17. LAFARGE and LCS completed the construction of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant in

2010 at a cost of approximately $680 million. LAFARGE and LCS executives believed that

keeping the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant in business and sharing the proceeds with the armed groups

in control of the surrounding areas, including ISIS and ANF, was the best way to protect

employees, to safeguard the asset from looting and destruction during the Syrian Civil War, and

to enable LAFARGE and LCS to benefit from the economic opportunity presented by the need to

rebuild Syria following the cessation of hostilities. Neither LAFARGE nor LCS made payments

to ISIS or ANF because they supported the terrorist organizations' ideology or methods.

18. LAFARGE and LCS executives actively attempted to conceal their conduct from

others within and outside LAFARGE and LCS, including by using third-party intermediaries to

carry out negotiations and effect these agreements with ISIS, and by attempting to require ISIS not

to include the name "Lafarge" on the documents memorializing and implementing their

agreements. Many of the LAFARGE and LCS executives involved in the offense conduct also

used personal email accounts serviced by U.S.-based email service providers, instead of their

LAFARGE corporate email addresses, to carry out some aspects of the conspiracy. LAFARGE

and LCS executives also created invoices with false descriptions for the third-party intermediaries

they used to negotiate with ISIS, in order to conceal the nature of the work that the intermediaries

had performed for LAFARGE and LCS, and to allow LAFARGE and LCS to later falsely deny

knowledge of their activities.

t All citations to documents originally in English contain original spelling, punctuation, and
grammar. Citations to documents originally in French are based on translations.
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19. From in or around August 2013, or earlier, through October 2014, LAFARGE and

LCS conspired to make various payments, through intermediaries, to and for the benefit of ISIS

and ANF, which the government estimates totaled the equivalent of approximately $5.92 million.

These payments consisted, at various times, of flat monthly "donation" payments totaling

approximately $816,000, payments to ISIS-controlled suppliers to purchase raw materials needed

to produce cement that totaled approximately $3,447,528, and variable payments based on the

amount of cement LCS sold that totaled approximately $l ,654,466. When LCS eventually

evacuated the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant in September 2014, ISIS stole cement that LCS had

produced in furtherance of the conspiracy, and ISIS sold the cement at prices that would have

yielded ISIS approximately $3.21 million. In addition, LAFARGE and LCS conspired to pay the

equivalent of approximately $l ,173,324 to third-party intermediaries for negotiating with and

making payments to ISIS and ANF on LAFARGE's and LCS's behalf.

20. The government estimates that during the time period from August 2013 to

October 2014, LCS obtained the equivalent of approximately $70,295,820 in total sales revenue

through its participation in the conspiracy, and the gross gains to allparticipants in the conspiracy,

incruding LCS' the 

ff,ffi, ;;#ffi,:ilffiT's41'8e0
TO FOREIGN TERRORIST ORGANIZATIONS

I. LAFARGE and LCS Use Intermediaries to Beein Nesotiations with Armed Groups

21. LAFARGE and LCS constructed the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant in northern Syria at a

cost of approximately $680 million. Through LCS, LAFARGE began manufacturing cement at

the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant in May 2010. From the beginning of LCS's operations, it faced strong

competition from cheaper cement imported into northem Syria from Turkey, and in December
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2010, Executive 3 sought the assistance of Intermediary 1 to intervene with the Syrian government

to control the importation of competing Turkish cement.

22. In or around 2011, the combination of civil protests in Syria and the Syrian

government's violent suppression of those protests developed into a full-fledged civil war, which

remains ongoing. In or about September 201 1, the European Union ("EU") imposed an embargo

on Syrian petroleum products to further isolate and weaken the Syrian regime in response to its

brutal crackdown on opposition groups within the country. Under the new sanctions, all27 EU

member states were barred from buying, importing or transporting oil and other petroleum

products from Syria, and from entering into financial or insurance services for such transactions.

On or about December l, 201l, the United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human

Rights declared that Syria was in a state of civil war.

23. ln20|2,ISIS and ANF gained control of territory in Syria and committed numerous

terrorist acts, resulting in the deaths of numerous U.S. citizens, among others.

24. The EU sanctions and U.N.'s recognition of the Syrian civil war were followed by

an exodus of multinational corporations from Syria. For example, on December2,2011, a Dutch

petroleum conglomerate announced that it was pulling out from Syria in response to the sanctions.

Three days later, one of the world's largest oil companies, headquartered in France, announced

that it was halting operations in Syria due to, among other factors, safety concerns. Other

international corporations quickly followed suit.

25. By contrast, LAFARGE and LCS executives took action to preserve ongoing

operations at the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. By May 2012, the conflict had spread to areas

immediately surrounding the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. Some LCS employees were kidnapped for

ransom, one LCS contractor was killed at a checkpoint, and armed militants began to regularly
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hijack LCS trucks. LAFARGE and LCS executives were aware of the risks of violence to their

personnel and suppliers. In a June I ,2012 email; Executive I wrote, "Both the threat level together

with the volatility of the situation have led [Executive 2 and Executive 3] to make the decision to

diminish our exposure and more specifically of the expatriates population who can become targets.

What is expected is to procede to an orderly evacuation of the expatriate employees, but ensuring

the physical protection of the assets and equipment being mothballed at every step."2 Thus, in

June 2012, LCS's European employees were evacuated from the country, and LCS's non-Syrian

management relocated from its headquarters in Damascus, Syria, to the offices of a Lafarge Group

company in Cairo, Egypt. LCS's Syrian employees, however, continued to operate the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant under the direction of LCS's management from Cairo.

26. Starting in the summer of 2012, LAFARGE and LCS executives, through

intermediaries, began to negotiate with various armed factions in the Syrian civil war to permit

continued operations of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. On September 23,2012,Executive I and

Intermediary I met in Gaziantep, Turkey with representatives of armed militants in areas

surrounding the plant. Thereafter, Intermediary 1 recommended to Executive I and Executive 3

that LCS make payments to each of the armed groups based on the quantity of cement produced

at the plant or according to a monthly fee.

27. By November 2012, ANF's presence in the region surrounding the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant grew, and LAFARGE and LCS executives approved a plan to establish relations

with ANF through Intermediary l. On November 11,2012, Intermediary I notified Executive 3

that LCS was engaging directly with ANF: "gazi entab [Gaziantep, Turkey] was good we hav now

conextion with jabhat al nosra [ANF]." LAFARGE and LCS executives were aware that the

2 All citations to written correspondence include original spelling, punctuation and grammar.
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United States government had designated ANF as a foreign terrorist organization. In a December

20,2012 email, Executive 1 wrote, "The Islamist group Jabhat Al-Nusra, which is on USA's list

of terrorist organisations, has reportedly recruited several Norwegian citizens to fight in Syria."

Similarly, in aMarch 1,2013 emailto Executive 1 and Executive 3, LCS's riskmanagerwarned

that ANF "follow[s] a globaljihadi ideology (similar to al-Qaida) and are more open to receive

foreign fighters" and had "ties to al-Qaeda, exemplified by participating al-Qaida veterans, mainly

from Iraq, and . . . some oftheir statements are quickly published in the main al-Qaida news outlet."

II. LAFARGE and LCS Begin Makins Pavments to Terrorists

28. ln a May 2013 reportto Executive 2 referringto the PYD,3 Executive 3 explained

that "[o]ur opinion" is to pursue the following option:

[T]ry to continue to operate the plant as long as possible, providing there is no
physical incident to our employees or contractors. This is aiming at preserving the

integrity of our physical assets (avoiding the plant to be looted), keeping our
personnel ready for the end of the crisis (knowing the huge investment we have

made in terms of recruitment and competency development), staying in the market
(to keep our distributors' network and to prevent to let Turkish imports flooding
North and East of Syria), making some profit to at least repay the interests of the
loan and giving some assurance to the lenders.

And Executive 3 recommended that:

we implement this option trying to cope with the presence of PYD, resisting to their
pressure as much and as long as possible, but giving up when necessary providing
it does not jeopardize the future and Lafarge values.

29. LAFARGE and LCS pursued this course of action even as ISIS's and ANF's

influence in the areas surrounding and serviced by the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant began to grow. By

March 2013, the city of Raqqah, located less than a two-hour drive from the Jalabiyeh Cement

Plant, had fallen to ISIS and ANF, among other armed groups. Both jihadist groups quickly

J

War,
"PYD" refers to the Democratic Union Party in Syria, an armed faction in the Syrian Civil
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established armed checkpoints at roads accessing the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. Shortly thereafter,

on or about April 7,2013, Intermediary 1 recommended that LCS executives negotiate an

agreement to pay ANF monthly or by the truck to ensure continued access to the plant. On or

about June 25,2013, LCS's risk manager wrote to Executive I and Executive 3 reporting that ISIS

was gathering strength near the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. In an email on or about July 24,2013,

LCS's risk manager warned Executive I and Executive 3 that ISIS and ANF had erected

checkpoints at the "sarreen intersection" an approximately 3O-minute drive from the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant, "and at the grain silos," with snipers on the silos, as well as homemade artillery and

rockets.

30. In an August 30,2013 email from Executive 3 to Executive I and Executive 2,

Executive 3 reported: "It is clear that we have an issue with ISIS and Al Nusra and we have asked

our partner [Intermediary I ] to work on it."

31. LAFARGE and LCS executives identified the "main challenge" related to the

presence of ISIS and ANF, among other armed groups, in notes of a September l l, 2013 meeting

of LAFARGE's Security Committee received by Executive 1 and Executive 2: "lt gets harder and

harder to operate without having to directly or indirectly negotiate with networks classified as

terrorists by international organizations and the US. The main challenge being to assess how far

their demands and threats will reach, and consequently, the limits that we want to impose for the

site to operate."

32. LAFARGE and LCS executives took measures to ensure that documents regarding

payments to FTOs and other armed groups did not reference the word "Lafarge." For example, on

or about September 16,2013, Executive 3 wrote Intermediary 1 conceming an agreement with an

armed militia to issue vehicle passes allowing LCS employees, suppliers, and customer-
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distributors to pass checkpoints west of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant that referred to "Lafarge," and

instructed Intermediary I that "the name of Lafarge should never appear for obvious reasons in

any document of this nature. Please use the words Cement Plant if you need but never the one of

Lafarge."

33. By the summer of 2013, LAFARGE and LCS could not continue to operate in Syria

without negotiating and ultimately making payments to ISIS, ANF and other armed militants. For

example, minutes from a Security Committee meeting held in Paris in September 2013, indicate

that "logistics flows and staff movements are disrupted, even sometimes blocked . . . by ISIS . . .

[which] demand[s] that 'a tax be paid' . . . [Executive 3 and an LCS employee] have been

'summoned' in front of the Islamic Court of Raqqa by ISIS in order to answer the charges filed

against them: cooperation with the Syrian regime, vandalism against the roads, ethnic favoritism .

. . The presence of these lslamist groups is for us the main threat." Despite recognizing the danger,

LAFARGE and LCS continued to operate in Syria.

34. Initially, once passage agreements were reached in October of 2013, payments

began as a flat $150 fee per cement truck, but soon evolved into payments based on the quantity

of cement that LCS sold. To ensure that LAFARGE and LCS employees did not make the

payments directly to ISIS and ANF, LAFARGE and LCS agreed to discount the price of the

cement sold to their customer-distributors to reimburse them for making the payments to ISIS and

ANF themselves. Through Intermediary l, LAFARGE and LCS agreed to regularly provide ISIS

with details regarding the amount of cement sold to each of their customer-distributors so that ISIS

could ensure that they had paid the agreed-upon amount.

35. For example, on or about September l, 2013, Executive 3 emailed Intermediary I

an internal LCS email detailing the seizure of two trucks from an LCS customer-distributor at a
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checkpoint to the east of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. Executive 3 asked, "Can you update me of

any progress in your discussions to let trucks (cement as well as raw materials) arriving and leaving

on the east side of the plant?" Intermediary 1 replied the next day that his associate had made a

call and had been told "that the Truck Sponsors will solve this problem / The Road Situation is

better now Al Nusra do not obstruct Lafarge trucks ever as long as we pay them for Saryeen."

And, on or about October 14, 2013, an LCS risk manager reported to Executive I that "our

customer has reached long term agreements with leading groups Islamic State in Iraq and al-Sham

(ISIS) in Raqqa, the agreement let the trucks coming back and forth from the east side of the plant.

Each cement truck has to pay 150$."

36. One agreement obtained by the government from weeks later, however, reflects

that LCS agreed to pay ISIS based on the amount of cement that it sold. This agreement, dated

November 6,2013 and on ISIS letterhead, was between ISIS and LCS. It provided that ISIS would

assess trucks 400 Syrian poundsa for each transported ton of cement and, in exchange, ISIS would

ensure the safety and free access of the trucks to the cement plant. Relatedly, an ISIS vehicle pass

dated April 26,2014, and bearing ISIS's letterhead and stamp, allowed LCS employees "to pass

through after the required work. This is after they have fulfilled their dues to us.":

4 At this time, the exchange rate of Syrian pounds to U.S. dollars was approximately 112 to I

l3
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37. LCS also made fixed monthly "donation" payments through lntermediary I to

ANF, ISIS and other armed groups with influence over the areas surrounding the Jalabiyeh Cement

Plant.

38. LCS began to make fixed monthly payments to armed groups through lntermediary

1 as early as July 2012. By February 2013, at Executive 3's request, Intermediary I had begun

periodically providing lists to Executive 3 identifying the armed groups to which he was making

payments on LCS's behalf and the amounts he was paying to the groups each month. Initially, the

lists that Intermediary I provided anonymized the armed groups he was paying and identified them

only by their location, and not by the name of the group. Beginning in February 2013 and
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continuing through at least July 3l,2013,lntermediary 1 advised Executive 3 that he was making

payments of first 200,000 Syrian Pounds, and later 325,000 Syrian Pounds, per month to a group

he identified as the "ALRAQA People," referring to the Syrian city located to the southeast of the

Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. The government's investigation indicates that the "ALRAQA People" at

this time referred to ANF. Intermediary I did not explicitly identifu the "ALRAQA People" as

ANF in his correspondence with Executive 3, and Executive 3 did not press Intermediary 1 to

identify the group, even after Raqqah fell to an assortment of armed groups in an assault led by

ANF and another armed faction, Ahrar al-Sham, in early March 2013.

39. Not untilthe summer of 2013, when ISIS began to seize control of Raqqah from

ANF and other rebel factions operating from the city, did LCS executives press Intermediary I to

more specifically identify the recipients ofthe payments he made to armed groups on LCS's behalf.

On or about July 1,2013, Executive 3 sent Intermediary I an email in which he requested "an

updated list from the one given in Dubai as we need to better understand some items like 'Bridge

check point' or 'Al Raqah people'. To which faction do they belong to ?" ln reply, Intermediary

1 provided information identifying some of the armed factions, butnotthe "Al Raqqah People."

In a follow-up email on or about July 2,2013, with the subject line "Donations," Executive 3

calculated that the new total of monthly payments to armed factions was 17.4 million Syrian

Pounds, and he reiterated his request for information about the identities of the armed factions that

LCS was paying through Intermediary 1:

I have updated in bold characters the list with the clarifications you sent in your
memo and the modifications we agreed yesterday.

Can you clarify who are the people of "Euphrates bridge check point" and which
check point for "Syrian army check point"? Who are the people in Tal Abyad and
Raqah ?

l5
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I understand that you are dealing with a lot of different people and I have no

problem with that but, as the amount has jumped from 7 .6 in May to 14.3 in June

and 17 .4 in July, it is not abnormal to have some clarifications

In reply, Intermediary 1 advised that he would send Executive 3 "this evening a complete but more

complicated list of this," but he did not identify the "Al Raqqah people" in his correspondence

with Executive 3.

40. On or about August 5,2013, Executive 3 emailed Executive 2 with the subject line

"Update on donations" reflecting "some elements on the donations we are paying to Ilntermediary

1] and that he is supposed to channel to the various beneficiaries. As discussed in Dubai end of

May and as reminded in my recent mailto you and [Executive 5], these donations are distinct from

the monthly remuneration of our partner." The email included a "List valid up to July 31,2013"

with the "Al Raqqah people" but the group, together with others, had been removed from the "List

valid from August 7,2013," which included the "PYD," "FSA and Revolutionary councils

Menbij," "Tal Abyad area," "FSA and Revolutionary coucils Aleppo," and "Ahrar al Cham

brigade."5 At this time, the revolutionary councils in Manbij and Aleppo were loosely organized

umbrella groups seeking to coordinate the actions of different armed factions against the Syrian

regime and consisted of numerous different groups, including armed Islamist groups.

41. LCS's decision to cease payments to the "Al Raqqah people" while paying the local

revolutionary council in Manbij permitted LCS to sell cement on the west side of the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant, but closed its access to customers and suppliers in the areas to the south and east of

the plant. On August 24,2013, Executive 3 forwarded to Executive I and Executive 2 an email

chain and attachments with a report that he was "seeing an improvement of the situation on the

5 "Ahrar al Cham brigade" refers to Ahrar al-Sham, a coalition of multiple groups of Islamist
militants who fought together during the Syrian Civil War and which was, at times, allied with
ANF.
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west of the plant (towards Menbij and Aleppo) as per my email below." The emailthat Executive

3 forwarded was sent by Executive 3 to Intermediary 1, Executive I and LCS's risk manager, and

attached an Arabic-language document dated August21,2013, from the "Chairman of the military

coincil in Menbej and its country side" on behalf of "The Local Revolutionary Council in Menbej

city and its countryside" "To Al Mujahideen in Menbej city and its countryside." According to a

translation by an LCS employee included in the email chain, the document stated: "We ask you

not to expose to the vehicles belonging to the Cement Company (Lafarge) commercial brand name

(Rasekh and Thabet ) and not to expose to their workers and employees and not to touch the plant

and the raw materials necessary for the plant's work for the general interest of the country and all

Muslims." Executive 3's email, which he addressed to Intermediary l, attached the document and

reported that "the situation is slightly improving in the west of the plant. Since last Wednesday a

few trucks and our employees were able to cross checkpoints without major difficulties," and he

advised that the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant "should resume dispatch in a larger scale on Saturday 24

if the situation continues to stabilize." But Executive 3 also reported that "[t]he pending issue is

on the east of the plant where it looks like the situation is still locked. This means that dispatching

to Hassakah, Qamishli, Raqqah and Deir es Zor is still not possible."

42. Indeed, ISIS fighters in Manbij, to the west, permitted cement trucks to travel to

and from the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant, even as the roads to Raqqah remained closed. On August

24, 2073, an LCS employee responsible for dispatching cement trucks provided LCS's risk

manager with a photograph of a handwritten Arabic-language document that he had found with

one of the drivers. The document, titled "The Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham," authorized four

named drivers for two named "owners of trucks, to transport four trucks of bagged fixed cement,

from the Islamic State checkpoints for only one time." The letter was signed and dated August 22,
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2013, and bore an ISIS-flag stamp with the Arabic text "The Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham

Aleppo Province The Emir of Manbij area and its surroundings."

43. On or about August26,20l3, Executive 3 emailed Intermediary I a map of the area

around the plant and summarized the "strong improvement" "[o]n the west side of the plant

towards Menbij, Al Bab, Aleppo, Idlib" but highlighted that "[o]n the east side of the plant towards

Hassakeh and Qamishli. There are 2 check points held by jihadists (see the map) which are

blocking the trucks to go to and from the plants," and "[o]n the south of the plant, in the region of

Al Thawra, Raqqah, Sokhna: there is a check point held by jihadists between Al Thawra and

Raqqah and also potential problems at Sokhna." Executive 3 summarized the problem by stating

"[g]enerally speaking, it is clear we have an issue with ISIS and Al Nusra in the east, especially in

Raqqah." lntermediary I responded "no probleme let me work on it today . . . i cal u tomorow to

breef you." The next day Intermediary I emailed Executive 3 to advise him that "We Negotiate

with ( DAWLET AL IRAQ WAL SHAM ) AL ISLAMIA &. AL NUSRA I got a News that the

situation In the Plant is Very Good."

44. By November 2013, LAFARGE and LCS executives had agreed that Intermediary

1 should make fixed monthly security payments to ISIS. In aNovember29,2013 email, Executive

3 sent Executive 2 a list of "donations we are paying to [Intermediary l] and that he is supposed

to channel to the various beneficiaries." The email contained a "List valid from November 1,

2013" that included a 5,000,000 Syrian Pound monthly payment for "Daesh (ISIS)." Executive 3

further indicated that the monthly donation payments to all armed groups now totaled 24 million

Syrian Pounds.

45. On February 4,2014, Executive 3 directed Intermediary I to limit the monthly

payments to armed groups to 20 million Syrian Pounds, including limiting assessments on sales to
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200 Syrian pounds per ton. Intermediary I responded that his representatives were meeting with

ISIS representatives ("daiich") in Raqqah and in Aleppo with ANF ("al nusra") regarding the

payments.

46. Intermediary I explained in a March 31,2014 email to Executive 1, Executive 2

and Executive 3:

Is Lafarge able to bear a loss of about $600 million, because we are operating in a
difficult situation? The second option is to endure bouts of anxiety and a sense of
helplessness for a few moments (believe me, after every Skype with [PYD
representative] or with Daich's Amir Minbej or Raqa my blood pressure rises to

dangerous levels). Yet, I come back and say the loss will be greater for everyone.
Even though I'm not completely comfortable in the relationship with Lafarge, I

pressure myself to continue and I saytomorrowwill be betterforallof us, and we

have to withstand two or three more years of unsettling circumstance. As long as

we are selling and are able to overcome the obstacles, we should continue.

Remember, we are dealing with militias that have a different thinking style than we

do, and we are also dealing with the crazies on the other side

I repeat, their logic is not like ours, but on my part, I have come to know all their
keys and I am dealing with issues calmly, opening not shutting doors. I know I am
jeopardizing my health, but prefer continuing with all the uncertainty which is
better than stopping and losing everything. We currently sell for $8 to $ I 0 million
per month, with a $2 million profit, and pay less than % for protection. Other
factories are paying for protection just to exist, without making the profits we are.

One day, I will tell you stories about the requests made by Daich or PYD, carrying
their rifles feeling like they own the world. At times I feel like a clown entertaining
children!

They are all unsatisfied about us if we do what they want in this case we have to
pay about 3OOmilion SYP monthly.

47. Payments to armed militants allowed LCS to continue producing and selling

cement at the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant through the spring of 2014. Executive 3 sent to Executive

4 on or about September 15,2014, an emailwith Intermediary l's initials as the subject line and

two attachments. The first attachment was a document named "List of donations last version.pdf'

that listed a monthly payment of 10 million Syrian Pounds to "Daesh" as of May l,2Ol4. ln a

second attachment to the email, titled "Evolution of the security donations 2012-2013-2014,"
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Executive 3 listed, in addition to the total amount of LCS's monthly "donation" payments, an

additional "10 MSYP paid on AprilZ3 to ISIS to unlock the West road." In a May 8,2014 email,

Intermediary I wrote to Executive 1, Executive 2 and Executive 3 that LCS's operations were not

impeded by local armed groups, stating "(Daesh - PYD - Al Nusra -Abu Issa6 all we have good

relations recently. . . ."

III. LCS Purchases Raw Materials and Supplies from ISlS-Controlled Suppliers

48. In or about late2013, after ISIS expanded its control over the region, including

quarries necessary for the production of cement, LCS began to purchase from suppliers within

those territories raw materials and supplies to allow the continued production of cement. A written

agreement on ISIS letterhead dated November 6,2013, provided that LCS would purchase

pozzolana-a type of volcanic ash used to create blended cement-from ISIS for 1,300 Syrian

pounds per ton. The agreement, negotiated by an associate working for Intermediary l, provided

that ISIS would allow LCS's suppliers who mined and transported the pozzolana from ISIS-

controlled quarries near Raqqah to retain some of LCS's payment for the raw material as profit.

49. Also in or about late2013, LCS began to use Intermediary 2to engage directly with

ISlS-connected suppliers for the purchase of raw materials and supplies. LAFARGE and LCS

retained the services of Intermediary 2 after he had personally met with the then-LAFARGE Group

Honorary Chairman and a member of the LAFARGE Board of Directors who was a former

LAFARGE Chief Executive Officer on September 16, 2013. In an email to LAFARGE's

Honorary Group Chairman in advance of the meeting, Intermediary 2 explained that he wished to

discuss "[t]he security issue of Lafarge . . . in Syria. I build up strong relationships with civilian

6 "Abu Issa" refers to Liwa Thuwar al-Raqqa, an armed militia participating in the Syrian
civilwar.
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and Military Locals including FSA, Kurds and Islamic state which are in control of all logistic

path in and out of . . . Lafarge . . . ." In communications between lntermediary 2 andLAFARGE

and LCS executives and employees after this meeting, Intermediary 2 repeatedly and explicitly

identified ISIS as the seller of the raw materials that Intermediary 2 brokered. For example, in a

September 24,2013 email from Intermediary 2 to Executive 3 about a recent order with the subject

line "Urgent Fuel pozzolana Coal petcoke/Islamic state," Intermediary 2 asserted that LCS had

already agreed to accept pozzolana sold by ISIS and stated "FOR pozzolana 15000 tons ready to

be shipped they are just waiting for signed P.O today max tomorrow please islamic state very

senstive about this issue ." In a separate email chain on or about September 27 ,2013, Executive

3 disputed Intermediary 2's assertion that LCS had already agreed to purchase pozzolana from

Intermediary 2's suppliers, but nevertheless responded that "[a]fter my mail, our Purchasing team

has contacted the contractor and the price is confirmed. We will place an order early next week

for a limited quantity (probably around 5,000 tons) as we need to see how it will work.lf it is OK

we will increase the quantity." As another example, in a September 28,2013 email to Executive

3, Intermediary 2 declared, "l OFFICIALLY REPRESENT ISLAMIC STATE FOR

INVESTMENTS and Soon for Kurdish.You ll get letter for that . So far im on LCS side but please

Im asking kindly to have my Fees ."

50. LAFARGE and LCS executives recognized the illegality under U.S. and Syrian law

of transacting with ISIS. In a December 7,2013 email, Executive 3 informed Executive 2 that a

competitor cement company was potentially under investigation by Syrian authorities for

"wrongdoings about heavy fuel oil transactions," and Executive 3 compiled a list of topics as to

which LCS had an issue of compliance with Syrian government regulations, including "Purchasing

gypsum andpozzolana from rebellion," "Purchasing Heavy Fuel Oil from rebellion," and "Paying
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every month the various rebel entities." Executive 3 concluded that some of LCS's conduct was

"questionable, even if they are needed for the business continuity." Similarly, on August 18,2014,

Executive 1 sent an email to Executive2 and Executive 4 stating that the U.S. government had

placed two militants from ISIS and ANF on the Specially Designated Global Terrorists list, which

designation "institutes a travel ban on both individuals and also freezes any assets they may hold

inside the United States."

51 . Ultimately, LAFARGE and LCS executives approved the purchase of raw

materials from ISIS-controlled quarries. In a December 4,2013 email to Intermediary l, Executive

I and Executive2, Executive 3 noted that besides the PYD "there is also all the other parties which

are controlling some raw materials or fuels sources as well as some roads that our suppliers and

customers are using." To continue to access these materials, LCS needed to "stay neutral and in

good terms with all the stakeholders."

52. With the approval of LAFARGE and LCS executives, Intermediary 2 negotiated

forLCS to purchase from ISIS critical raw materials necessary to the operation of the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant, including coal, fuel andpozzolana from the fall and winter of 2013 into early 2014.

Intermediary 2 indicated in correspondence with LCS that he would use Raqqah-based suppliers

with direct ties to ISIS to deliver pozzolana.

53. For example, in or about September and October 2013, Executive 3, through

Intermediary 2, negotiated for the purchase of fuel and pozzolana from ISIS. In a September 27,

2013, email from a Raqqah-based supplier to LCS's procurement manager, the supplier offered

the price of 1,641 Syrian pounds per ton of pozzolana, but stated the price would be raised to 3,500

Syrian pounds because "we won't allow importing this material or any other except through us

since we have the quarry and it is at our service." The Raqqah-based supplier signed the email
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with his title, "The Emir of the Investment Office in the Islamic State in Iraq and Sham. The

Wilayat of al-Raqqa." In an agreement dated September 29,2013,the initial negotiated price was

1,641 Syrian pounds per ton of pozzolana. Later, on or about November 26,2013, Executive 3

confirmed with Intermediary 2 that, considering the delivery of the initial I 0,000 tons of pozzolana

to the plant, LCS would agree to order another 100,000 tons of pozzolana over the next six months

at the "firm" price of 1,650 Syrian pounds per ton.

54. Negotiations into early 2014 between Executive 3 and Intermediary 2 culminated

in LCS's agreement to purchase from ISIS-controlled suppliers I 00,000 tons of pozzolana at 1,650

Syrian pounds per ton, another 1 00,000 tons of pozzolana at 1,67 5 Syrian pounds per ton, 4,000

tons of heavy fuel oil at 39,000 Syrian pounds per ton, another 12,000 tons of heavy fuel oil at

26,500 Syrian pounds per ton, 15,000 tons of "dirt" fuel at 17,500 Syrian pounds per ton, and an

option for 35,000 additionaltons of dirty fuel at the same price, as well as yellow sand and coal.

Executive 3 reported these anticipated transactions to LAFARGE executives and, on or about

February 16,2014, Executive 3 referredto these negotiations in an email to Executive 2, writing

that the "situation with Daech (the jihadists of Islamic State in Iraq and Sham (ISIS)) is relatively

calm and we are currently finalizing purchasing of pozzolana and fuel oil."

IV. LAFARGE and LCS Conceal the True Purpose of the Pa),ments to Intermediar), I and
Intermediary 2

55. LAFARGE and LCS executives, including Executive 2 and Executive 3, took steps

to conceal payments made to Intermediary 1 and Intermediary 2. In this regard, LAFARGE and

LCS executives directed Intermediary I and Intermediary 2 to submit invoices that did not

reference their own names or the names of their companies, and that referenced payments for

donations, unspecified professional fees, or personal expenses, in part to avoid discovery oftheir

payments to ISIS-controlled suppliers.
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A. Intermediary 1

56. LAFARGE and LCS adopted methods of payment to Intermediary I that were

designed to arouse less suspicion by LCS's external auditors and conceal the purpose of the

payments. Before the Syrian govemment seized Intermediary l's assets, including his minority

ownership stake in LCS and his Syrian company, LCS had compensated Intermediary 1 monthly

under a "local project support agreement" for acting as a joint venture partner by paying him l%o

of LCS's total net revenue. Under the "local project support agreement" monthly "turnover"

payments were payable to Intermediary l's Syrian company (the "Intermediary I Company"), and

to satisfy LCS's external auditors, Executive 3 required Intermediary I to submit invoices to LCS

onlntermediary I Company'sletterhead. Butfollowingtheseizureof Intermediary 1'sassetsby

the Syrian government, including the seizure of the Intermediary 1 Company, LCS continued to

pay Intermediary I as compensation for his "security" services negotiating with and paying armed

militant groups on LCS's behalf, even as they sought ways to conceal the nature of LCS's ongoing

relationship with Intermediary l.

57. Executive 3 repeatedly instructed Intermediary 1 to submit invoices for payment

for his "security" services that did not reference Intermediary l's name or the name of the

Intermediary I Company, and directed Intermediary 1 to create a new corporate entity ostensibly

unrelated to Intermediary 1 from which to submit invoices for "security" services. For example,

in a December 13, 2012 email to Intermediary l, Executive 3 specified that any future invoice

should not be on Intermediary Company 1's letterhead, but instead should be on that of a company

outside of Syria to be created by Intermediary l:

I would like to remind you that we still need to receive correct invoices from [the
Intermediary I Company] for the months of September and October. We discussed
this issue many times and you told me it is not a problem so please send them as
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soon as possible. For the November payment, we cannot take the documents you
prepared with [the Intermediary 1 Company] in the title.

As I told you, you need to send us the references of a [new] company located
outside of Syria.

This will avoid problems with the Syrian authorities and with our Auditors.

We absolutely need to move forward before the end of the year to be able to present
clean justifications for the [] closing of our accounts.

58. Executive 3 renewed the request on or about January 12,2Ol3,telling Intermediary

I o'we are in a very uncomfortable situation vis a vis our auditors." Later, on or about April 30,

2013, Executive 3 provided even more explicit instructions to Intermediary 1 regarding how to

draft invoices that would not raise red flags:

One more time I would appreciate if you could send to LCS your invoices with a
minimum of formalism so that they can be presented in case of request by the
extemal auditors or by the Syrian authorities.

By not doing this, you are putting me personally and LCS in a difficult situation.
We have been discussing this issue for six months now, our financial statements for
2012 cannot be approved by [LCS external auditors] because of that so we need to
come to a conclusion.

We really need to get the references of the company you have formed in Dubai and
they need to be mentioned on your invoices, even if we continue to settle the
invoices in Syrian Pounds

We also need to receive from you the invoices prepared according to the template
I sent you last time and that I am attaching again for your perusal.

Please do not mention any name on this invoice.

I am also resending you your invoice 001 for example.

We propose you to use the following numbering method:

l) Security invoice: numbering should be S (for security) followed by month/year

Example: invoice 5-005/2013 means the invoice that we have paid today (you
indicated in the document you sent yesterday it is for month of Aprilbut in fact it
is for May as security amounts are paid in advance)

2) Turnover invoice:numbering should be T (for turnover) followed by month/year
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Example: invoice T-00412013 is the one you will have to prepare once we
communicate to you the April tumover)

By doing such simple things, which may look minor, it would make things more
"presentable" and help us a lot.

We should also talk about the local support agreement and redefine it so that it can
substantiate the invoices.

But the most urgent is to have appropriate invoices.

59 . On May 29, 2013, Executiv e 2 and Executive 3 met with Intermediary I in Dubai

to discuss the list of armed militant groups that Intermediary 1 was to pay on LCS's behalf, and to

discuss changing LAFARGE's and LCS's relationship with Intermediary 1 to publicly disassociate

LCS from Intermediary l, while continuing to use Intermediary I to deal on their behalf with

armed militants. Specifically, LAFARGE and LCS executives began pushing Intermediary 1 to

resign from LCS's Board of Directors but to continue managing LCS's relationships with armed

militants in the area of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant by forming a new "consulting" company that

would enter into a "support agreement" with LCS.

60' On June 16,2013, Executive 3 emailed Executive 1, Executive 2, Executive 5 and

In-House Lawyer I regarding news that the Syrian government had sentenced Intermediary 1 to

death in absentia and had converted the preliminary seizure of Intermediary I's assets, including

his shares in LCS, into a permanent confiscation of those assets. On June 30,Z}l3,Executive 3

wrote Intermediary 1, "[W]e cannot continue the way we are settling the turnover invoices. Our

preferred option would be the one we told you last October: a bank transfer in USD to the account

of a duly registered company," as opposed to a direct payment to Intermediary I in cash, which

would appear more suspicious.

6L LAFARGE and LCS executives directly negotiated the amount of Intermediary 1's

compensation for his services, and the payments were explicitly conditioned on Intermediary I
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continuing to make payments on LAFARGE's and LCS's behalf to armed groups, which included

ISIS and ANF. In an August 2,2013 email to Executive2 andExecutive 3, Executive 5 confirmed

that he had concluded negotiations with Intermediary I with an agreement to make monthly

payments of $75,000, of which Intermediary I would retain $50,000 and the remaining $25,000

would be disbursed to armed groups. Executive 2 responded that the arrangement was acceptable,

so long as the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant remained open. The agreement was formalized in a

February 2,2014 "External Support Agreement" between LCS and Intermediary I's new company

("lntermediary I's New Company") in which LCS agreed that "[flrom July I .2013, [LCS] shall

pay a monthly remuneration of 75.000USD," but the agreement provided that in light of "the

circumstances prevailing in Syria and the unpredictability of the situation" the $75,000

compensation would only be payable "in respect of any given month provided [LCS] has sold a

minimum quantity of 75,000 tons of cement during the" three previous months. Executive 3 signed

the External Support Agreement on behalf of LCS. An individual who worked for Intermediary I

signed the External Support Agreement on behalf of Intermediary I 's New Company, however the

document made no reference to Intermediary l.

62. LAFARGE executives were also directly involved in falsifying records relating to

the payments made to Intermediary 1. For example, in an August 5,2013 email Executive 3 wrote

to Executive 2, "Could you please approve, sign and send me back a scanned copy of the attached

expense claim for the recently agreed remuneration of flntermediary 1]? It will be transfered

directly to his offshore account from an account LCS is having through [a Lafarge subsidiary] in

Egypt. This is the way we intend to proceed in the future to severe any suspicion in connecting

LCS and [ntermediary 1]." The attached expense claim form called for the payment of $75,000

in cash for "Operating expenses for July 2013," and the corresponding code of "Expat others."
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The expense claim did not reference Intermediary 1, the true nature of Intermediary 1's work for

LCS, or any company associated with Intermediary l.

B. Intermediary 2

63. LAFARGE and LCS executives made similar efforts to disguise the nature of the

payments to Intermediary 2. On January 12,2014, Executive 3 directed Intermediary 2 to send an

invoice from Intermediary 2's company (the "Intermediary 2 Company") that only referenced

environmental consulting, rather than payments regarding raw materials:

Prepare an invoice from [the Intermediary 2 company], send to me by email and
bring the original next week, for an amount of 4,402 USD just with "Environmental
consultancy services for the months of October, November and December 2073"
as a justification.

For your understanding hereunder are the details of the calculation:

- pozzolana: 18,270 tons equivalent to 914 USD (he has delivered the first order of
15,000 tons and 3,270 tons out of the order of 100,000 tons)

- HFo: 3,488 tons equivalent to 3,488 USD (he has not yet completed the first order
of 4,000 tons, it remains 512 tons to deliver and he has not started the 12.000 tons
of standard quality)

Total:4,402 USD

Thanks to comply for a smooth sefflement

64. On or about February 5,2014, Executive 3 reiterated his directions to Intermediary

2 for invoicing that did not reference shipments from lSlS-controlled suppliers, but rather

environmental consulting payments:

Ifyou want to have a chance to get paid for pozzolana and HFo, you have to prepare
an invoice following my instructions and not your imagination.

So you have to issue an invoice mentioning only:

Consultancy services performed up to January 3l ,2014 for a total amount of 4,836
USD

This amount has been calculated as follows (up to 31-l-2014) HFO: 3,488 tons out
of the order of 4,000tons: 3,488 USD
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Pozzolana:15,0001out of the order of 15,000t ( completed) plus 11,964t from the
order of 100,000t i.e total 26,964120: 1348 USD

Send me the invoice asap so that you have a chance to be paid next week.

65. On February 13,2014,lntermediary 2 sent Executive 3 an invoice "[b]ase[d] on

your instruction." The invoice, payable to the Intermediary 2 Company, purported to be for

" [c]onsultancy services."

V EandL a
ISIS

66. As ISIS gained strength and control of more territory near the Jalabiyeh Cement

Plant, ISIS sought to increase its share of LCS's sales revenue. On or about July I ,2014, after

Intermediary 1 updated Executive 3 about payments by distributors to ISIS ("Daesh") per ton of

cement, Executive 3 responded that the roads to the east of the plant were inaccessible and asked

whether it was because ISIS "wants more money from them, if yes how much" or "are they waiting

for the approval of someone ?" Intermediary I informed Executive 3 that ISIS wanted a monthly

payment of 40 million Syrian pounds, a large increase from the 10 million Syrian pounds agreed

to previously, which Intermediary I had refused ("My policy is to let them [wait] for while and

then open Chanel for negotiations."). Intermediary 1 further explained that in its negotiations LCS

needed to be careful not to provoke ISIS to take over the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant.

67. In response, LAFARGE and LCS executives authorized Intermediary I to negotiate

an agreement to pay ISIS an amount based on the revenue from the plant in retum for passes that

allowed LCS employees, suppliers and distributors to pass through ISIS checkpoints on the roads

leading to the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. As part of the deal, which was directed by Executive l,

Executive 2, and Executive 4, who had just been transferred from his role at another Lafarge

subsidiary to replace Executive 3 and was transitioning into the role of CEO of LCS, LAFARGE

and LCS, through intermediaries, sought ISIS's assistance to initially equalize the treatment of and
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subsequently suppress the flow of cheaper Turkish cement into Syria, which was undercutting the

prices LCS could charge for its own cement. The issue of Turkish cement, which Executive 3

complained was "flood[ing]" the market, had long been of critical importance to LAFARGE and

LCS executives.

68. Throughout the negotiations, LAFARGE and LCS executives insisted that the

name "Lafarge" not appear on any contract with ISIS or on the passes issued by ISIS. Later, when

the negotiations eventually broke down in the midst of a growing international and multilateral

effort to defeat ISIS, LAFARGE and LCS executives, including In-House Lawyer l, concealed

their ties to Intermediary 1.

A. Revenue-Sharing Nesotiations

69. Throughout negotiations with ISIS through Intermediary l, LAFARGE and LCS

emphasized the need to block or tax imports of cement from Turkey into Syria in a manner

comparable to the levies imposed by ISIS on LCS's cement. A May 21,2014 email from

Intermediary 1 to Executive 3 conveyed a proposal from ISIS to "stop the Turkish cement to pass

from their borders totally[.] And asked: If we do that what are we [LCS] going to do conversely?

. . . I replied our sales might . . . increase and maybe your compensation too[.]" In response,

Executive 3 questioned whether ISIS had sufficient control to actually block Turkish cement

imports, and opined that responding affirmatively to ISIS was not a good idea, noting that if ISIS

were to do as they had proposed, "it would increase our dependence to Da'ech USIS], who could

also after that want to dictate us selling prices or else," and further noted that if LCS were to be

the only company permitted by ISIS to sell cement "it presents a high risk in terms of image and

we cannot in any manner have such an agreement, even unformal." Instead, Executive 3 proposed

that ISIS should "take a 'toll fee' on each truck loaded with Turkish cement. This fee should be
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equal or higher than the fee they charge to our distributors." Executive 3 opined that such a toll

fee on Turkish cement would allow ISIS to gain revenue while simultaneously "reduc[ing] the

attractiveness of Turkish cement. It would reinforce our competitiveness [and] therefore increase

our volumes and increase the fees paid [to] our distributors or Da'ech USIS]."

70. On or about June 75,2014, LCS's risk manager reported to Executive 3 that ISIS

had refused to renew the vehicle passes for the roads to the East of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant and

had informed him through a connection that ISIS wanted to "rise the the tax to 40 million SYP."

On June 17 ,2014, LCS's risk manager reported to Executive I and Executive 3 that he had gone

to Raqqah to meet with an individual with contacts in ISIS's leadership. LCS's risk manager

reported that he had complained that the figure was 'overy high" and listed LCS's conditions,

including that ISIS would "[i]mpose[] tax on Turkish cement in 4 [ISIS] provinces" and "[o]pen[]

the blocked roads from Ar-Raqqah."

71. On or about July l0,2014,Intermediary 1 emailed Executive l, Executive2 and

Executive 3, updating them on his efforts to reach a "durable agreement" with ISIS:

Considering that the situation in the area of the factory is so sensitive and strained,
yesterday we started negotiations to reach to a fix agreement with the ISIS and the
highest authorities, provided that it will be durable agreement, instead of semi -
monthly. The agreement must provide for protecting the product and facilitating
the passage of the product and the raw materials from and to the factory. lt provides
also that the Turkish cement that is produced in other factory must be treated
according to the same conditions of the factory, i.e costs are imposed on its passage
on any of the roads controlled by the ISIS.

Taking into consideration the international political situation, we expect the ISIS
will stay in the region for a long term, so we have to deal carefully with them.

72. A July 14,2014 email from Executive 3 to Executive 4 and Intermediary I set forth

the overarching principles regarding any agreement with ISIS, including omitting the company's
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name from any signed documents, processing payments through LCS customers rather than

through LCS, and ISIS's agreeing to block or tax imported cement from Turkey:

l) the name of LCS must never appear in any signed document

2)the amount of the agreement must be on a per ton sold basis, not a lump sum as

it must be linked to our level of activity

3) it has to be processed through our customers. We can give them the quantities
sold to each customer to avoid that they try to minimize the quantities they purchase
from us.

4) we are not in favor of formally blocking GOC cement to be sold in this area but
they should charge something similar to us.

5) regarding Turkish cement, it would be good either to block it or to ask for a much
higher fee as this cement is not bearing the amount of the consumption tax (1400
SYP/ton) that it should when entering Syria, meaning huge profits for importers.

In this context "GOC cement" referred to cement manufactured by Syrian government-owned

plants located in other regions of Syria, while the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant sold cement in the areas

near the Turkish border. That same day, Executive 3 clarified LCS's stance that it would discount

prices to customers based on the taxes the customers paid to ISIS:

In fact we do not deduct any amount from our customers but we adjust our selling
prices to them, assuming they will have to bear 500 SYP per ton to go through the
various check points to get their cement delivered. If they spend less, it is additional
margin for them, but if they spend more it is their problem, not ours.

Executive 3 forwarded the email to Executive 2 that same dav.

73. LAFARGE and LCS executives repeatedly expressed their commitment to revenue

sharing with ISIS in the hope that it would incentivize the terrorist group to act in LCS's economic

interest. On July 23,2014, Executive 2 wrote to Executive 3 and Executive 4:

We have to maintain the principle that we are ready to share the "cake," if there is
a oocake." To me, the "cake" is anything that is a "profit", after the amortization
and before financial expenses.

Therefore, a tax by the ton is the only one that would make sense in this context.
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If we get a fixed tax, unless it's just a symbolic one, it would not make sense
because they won't have a vested interest to have the plant run well.

74. Intermediary 1 followed these instructions in negotiating an agreement with ISIS.

He regularly updated executives from LAFARGE and LCS about the progress of negotiations and

received frequent reminders from them to eliminate any direct reference to "Lafarge" from

documents, to discount prices to LCS's customers based on the customers' payments to ISIS, and

to obtain ISIS's agreement to tax Turkish cement imports to allow LCS to increase the price of its

cement. For example, on July 21,2014, Executive 4 wrote to Intermediary l:

[W]e need to stick to the principle of payment based on sold ton, performed by
distributor / did ISIS mention anything about taxing Turkish cement? . . . . the
testament . . . by LCS is feasible as soon as no other party is mentioned on it ('to
whom it may concern' is ok).

75. On or about July 30,2014, Executive 3 sent an emailto Executive 4, his successor

as CEO of LCS, explaining the reasons for LAFARGE's and LCS's negotiating position with the

PYD and ISIS and LCS's existing arrangements with the PYD, ISIS and other armed groups.

Executive 3 first explained that he doubted whether Intermediary I actually paid all of the amounts

he was given by LAFARGE and LCS to armed groups like ISIS: "[T]his means that rather to

giving him fintermediary l] the cash to distribute it to the parties, it is better if the money can be

paid by others directly to the parties." Similarly, Executive 3 wrote that LAFARGE and LCS

should focus on negotiating a variable-fee agreement that tied LAFARGE's and LCS's obligation

to pay PYD and ISIS to the amount of cement sold from the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant. Executive 3

explained that the alrangement should ensure that the payments would be made by LCS's

customer-distributors directly to PYD and ISIS, and to ensure that PYD and ISIS were able to

collect the full amount of the payments from the customer-distributors, LCS would provide PYD

and ISIS with records of LCS's sales to its customer-distributors:
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- we should strive to have everything variable on a SYP/ton basis or at least

minimize the monthly fixed fee - the variable portion should be paid by the
distributors, not by us, but we would give the monthly volumes to the parties to
make sure distributors are not playing a nasty game...

- against this payment, distributors should get receipts that would justify payments
have been actually done

- we need to know more about their promise to block Turkish cement, it is by far
too vague

Heeding Executive 3's advice, the same day Executive 4 followed up with Intermediary 1 on the

status of the negotiations with the PYD and ISIS, telling him, "Generally we need to keep the fixed

part (paid by us thru you) to stay as minimum and variable part to be paid by customers as much

as we can," and asking for "more information about the way PYD and Daesh USIS] will control

turkish cement import: stop it, implement tax? [H]ow much, to be paid how?"

76. In August 2014, Intermediary I informed Executive 4 that, as part of any

agreement, ISIS wanted a monthly fee in addition to an assessment on each ton of cement sold.

Intermediary 1 stated:

Negotiations with ISIS are complex and not easy at all. In their last request

yesterday, they asked us to pay S.P.100 million/month, but I told them today
morning that they will gain more than 100 million/month from the factory in case

the agreement includes the fixed monthly amount + the introduction amount * the

amount ofour purchases ofpozolana, sand and fuel.

77 . On August 4,2014, Executive 4 instructed Intermediary I that if ISIS wanted more

money from LCS, it should reduce LCS's competition so that LCS could raise its prices: "lf ISIS

wants higher tax from us, it's better for them to stop Turkish cement and Iraki cement, so that we

may increase the price." In response, Intermediary 1 informed Executive 4 that ISIS was prepared

to stop importation of Turkish cement upon consummation of an agreement. Addressing

Executive 4's question as to whether payment to ISIS would be made by LCS's customer-

distributors ratherthan by LCS itself through Intermediary 1 ("[T]he payment is stillto be made
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directly by customers, ok?"), Intermediary 1 responded: "yes by customers . to the isis, and by us

to py d."

78. On or about August 5,2}l4,Intermediary 1 sent Executive 4 a proposed agreement

with ISIS calling for an equivalent taxation rate of ten percent of LCS's profits and a blank vehicle

pass that ISIS would issue to allow employees, customers, and suppliers to drive to and from the

Jalabiyeh Cement Plant:

Attached are copies of both agreements, which must be signed by our party in
Turkey by the end of the day. The agreement is upon l}oh of the profits, as for
ISIS a fixed payment is inacceptable, because it's against Al Sharia principles
which they use as an apparent excuse. Therefore, the agreement is in a deceptive
form. We agreed to pay them 750SYP/Ton every l5 days from the distributers who
approved, and I willpersonally pay the mediator 50 SYP/Ton monthly which I will
deduct from the fixed monthly payments.

The contract, depicted below, is between LCS (referred to as the "Jalabiyeh Cement Plant," rather

than "Lafarge" or "Lafarge Cement Syria SA") and ISIS
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79. The next day, August 6, 2014, Executive 4 confirmed to Intermediary 1

LAFARGE's and LCS's agreement to an equivalent taxation rate of ten percent, in return for the

free movement of LCS employees, customers and suppliers, as well as ISIS's agreement to stop

importation of Turkish cement in areas under its control:

As per our phone call today, hereafter what I understand from the agreement with
ISIS, that I approve:

o ISIS will receive the payment of 75OSP/ton, by customers, every two weeks
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. ISIS ensure the security and the free movement of our customers and
suppliers vehicles as well as our employees

o ISIS will stop import of Turkish cement in the areas under its control (as of
today: Al Rakka, Dair El Zor, Hasaka, Qamishli and Al Mayaden, Srin,
Menbij, Al-Bab, Deir Hafer and Maskaneh), or implement in those areas
taxes as high or higher than to Jalabieyeh cement plant.

. The agreement is valid until February 5th, 2015.

I hope the agreement to be signed today, and sales to restart tomorrow.

ISIS needs to clarify which office (AlRaqqah or Membij) is certified to receive
payments and deliver permission letters.

80. Later that day, Executive 4 confirmed to Executive 2 his understanding with

Intermediary I that ISIS would receive 750 Syrian pounds perton paid every 15 days by LCS's

customer-distributors, with the fixed part subjectto change (10 million Syrian pounds as of the

date of the contract). Executive 4 further indicated that ISIS appeared committed to stopping

Turkish cement imports or to setting up a tax at least equal to that paid by LCS at their checkpoints.

Executive 4 noted that the payments to ISIS would impact the sale price of LCS's cement, and

thus the rolling forecast ("RF"; of LCS's earnings before interest, taxes, deductions and

amortization ("EBITDA"), prompting Executive 2 to respond that he did not want taxes

"collected" by ISIS to exceed 50% of the normal contribution.

81. Even though LAFARGE and LCS executives communicated their consent to the

proposed agreement through Intermediary 1, ISIS waited to execute the agreement and then asked

for additional concessions. On or about August 15,2014,lntermediary I informed Executive 4

that ISIS had changed its stance yet again regarding the rate of taxation, as communicated during

a recent meeting:

Da'ysh [SIS] have changed their mind and began to negotiate that they want 10Yo

of the cement, and they want them as cement, in addition to that, they want 25%o

out of the value of our raw materials according to the bills.
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They will take S.P 1500 for each ton sold in their areas . . . . And in addition, they
take SP l5 millions monthly as charges of the pass of workers and raw materials.
Payment must be via prior advances . . . .

They are waiting for our reply tomorrwo before 12 in the morning, because they
will held a meeting with ISIS leader] al Baghdadi tomorrow at night, and they will
be busy for a month or more, so they will not be able to meet us in the meanwhile.

I suggest to discuss the matter with [Executive2], and to agree on their conditions,
because, regarding the ground situation, I think they will control the area almost in
a month, and then we will give them what we are giving to [another armed group]
now.

82. Executive 4 forwarded the message to Executive? and indicated that, although LCS

was supposed to receive the "passes," ISIS had apparently changed its mind. Executive 4 stated

that he was attempting to verify Intermediary 1's information. Executive 2 wanted to know the

effect of the agreement with ISIS on LCS's operating margin, and reminded Executive 4 that ISIS

was a terrorist organization:

Can you reiterate to me the agreement . with ISIS and how much of our
operational margin it is?

PS In the same vein, we should not forget that ISIS is a terrorist movement.

83. On or about August 15, 2014, Executive 4 recommended accepting ISIS's

demands, providing a rough estimate of the new terms on the calculation of LCS's EBITDA, and

observed that LCS's operating margin for the third and fourth quarters would depend on how

successfully ISIS blocked Turkish cement imports. Executive 4 promised to provide more precise

calculations after consulting with LCS's Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") about which portion of

the payments to ISIS would be included in LCS's accounting of its selling, general and

administrative expenses ("SGA") :

Regarding the exact calculation of the operationalmargin, I will see with my CFO

[] these next few days in Beirut, because a portion of the fees is absorbed by SGA.
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Roughly speaking, the new RF gives an EBITDA of 2700 Syrian Pound per ton
(vs. 3000 last month).

But the Q3-Q4 margin is going to depend on the prices and the Turkish imports that
ISIS pretends being able to block.

I'm having the information cross-checked; what fintermediary l] has been stating
is accurate. . . . our risk manager whom I met in Amman these last few days, was
not able to re-cross the border because of battles and is stuck in Ganzatiep. ISIS
has retaken a few sites in the North and is targeting our region.

Currently, our stocks are full, and the quality of the cement is deteriorating. So, all
we can currently sell is welcome, especially if the battles intensify in the region
next month.

I recommend acceding to the request of ISIS.

84. On or about August 15, 2014, the United Nations Security Council issued a

resolution condemning ISIS, ANF and Al-Qaeda, and calling on U.N. members to prohibit all

financial and trade relations with the groups. On August 18,2014, the United States Department

of State added ISIS member Mohamed Al-Adnani and ANF member Said Arif to its list of

Specially Designated Global Terrorists. The escalating global response to ISIS and ANF prompted

concern from the LAFARGE and LCS executives who were already negotiating with and paying

ISIS through intermediaries. On August 18,2014,Executive I emailed Executive 2 and Executive

4 with the subject heading "terrorist watch list" and wrote that the United States had designated

ISIS's Al-Adnani and ANF's Arif to the list of Specially Designated Global Terrorists.

85. On or about August2},2014, Executive 4 emailed Executive I and Executive2 an

update about negotiations with ISIS: "According to the last conversations, the distributors will

advance cash to ISIS in order to access the plant, with replenishment every two weeks depending

on sales. I will see with [In-House Lawyer l] the consequences of this kind of deal." In this email,

Executive 4 stated that he planned to consult with LAFARGE's internal counsel regarding the
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latest negotiations with ISIS, which involved LCS's customers paying a fee to ISIS to access the

Jalabiyeh Cement Plant rather than direct payments to ISIS through an intermediary.

86. After entering into the revenue-sharing agreement with ISIS, LAFARGE

executives involved in the negotiations with ISIS updated LAFARGE's Executive Committee.

Notes of LAFARGE's August 27,2014 Executive Committee meeting reflect that Executive 2

highlighted ISIS's agreement to impose costs on imported Turkish cement that were equal to the

costs imposed on LCS: "ln our agreement with Daesh IISISI, we said that in terms of taxation we

must have the same treatment as Turkish imports." The notes further reflect that Executive 6

responded that "we have to make sure that what we do is risk free (also vis-d-vis the U.S.)" In

response, Executive 2 replied that "the best protection is to keep the plant in operation, sales have

resumed, we are maintaining contact with everyone."

B. ISIS Issues Vehicle Passes Refer Explicitlv to "Lafarse"

87. Pursuant to its agreement with LCS, ISIS issued LCS passes that the drivers of

cement trucks could show to demonstrate their authorization to pass through ISlS-controlled

checkpoints. On September 4, 2014,Executive 4 complained to Intermediary I about the passes

that specifically referred to "Lafarge" by name:

The name Lafarge and the fact that Lafarge 'paid' appears on the laissez-passer
passes issued by ISIS. This is completely against our agreement with ISIS. It is
clear that these passes were issued for the distributors, not for Lafarge. Could you
look into solving this issue?

Intermediary I agreed that "we have to change the name or have an alias that all the laissez-passer

passes use as well as the distributors because ISIS cannot let all the cements get through, just ours."

88. On September 8,2014, Executive 4 traveled to Paris, France to meet with In-House

Lawyer l. The next day, Executive 4 emailed Executive 1 with the subject line "Clearance

Raqqah" regarding two ISIS passes, one from ISIS officials in Manbij, which mentioned
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"Lafarge," and one from ISIS officials in Raqqah, which did not. Executive 4 asked Executive I

to share the documents with Executive 2, and Executive 1 agreed. The same day, Executive 4

forwarded copies of the passes to Executive I and commented that, as to the Raqqah pass, "All are

without mentioning our company name." Executive 4 further wrote, "Thank you for sharing this

information with [Executive 2f,l don't want to write to him about this topic at his professional

address (as recommended by [In-House Lawyer l])." indicating that In-House Lawyer t had

instructed Executive 4 notto create an email record of the communications. Executive 1 replied

that he had also had the Manbij pass translated, and that he agreed it clearly referred to the plant

and"Lafarge," and that he would discuss this the next day with Executive 2.

VI. LCS Evacuates the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant

89. On September 9, 2014, while posing as one of the ISlS-controlled suppliers for

whom he had brokered materials purchase agreements with LCS, Intermediary 2 wrote an email

to Executive 4 with the subject line "lafarge crisis pending payments" stating, "For past 2 months

pCS] didn't pay us our money... Please try to understand this money of supplier who work with

strongest islamist arrny on ground so Lafarge shouldn't mess around with them...[an individual]

did the impossible to calm them down...but Lafarge cross the line. We need total by the end of

this month Please situations become critical."

90. The following day, September 10,2014, an LCS employee responsible for

procuring raw materials stated in an email to Executive 4, "Previously I took the risk to

communicate with this person and am risking my life for the sake of the company and the

continuation of the business. Butthe situation going more and more I must stop here and I ask

your help to nominate any other person from Lafarge to communicate with this supplier as I could

not continue risking my life."
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91. On September 10,2014, President Barack Obama addressed the nation to outline

the United States' strategy to lead an intemational coalition to "degrade and ultimately destroy"

ISIS through direct military action, and the President identified ISIS as "a terrorist organization,

pure and simple" with "no vision other than the slaughter of all who stand in its way."

92. The next day, Executive 4 emailed Executive 2 stating that In-House Lawyer I had

asked Executive 4 to suspend all payments the previous day and to wait for instructions following

a forthcoming meeting with Executive 6. Executive 4 argued against shutting down the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant. Although Executive 4 stated that he understood that "no risk should be taken that

would hinder the completion of the merger with Holcim," Executive 4 argued that the Jalabiyeh

Cement Plant was "located in a Kurdish pocket which has no strategic, economic or military

interest that would justifu an attack by ISIS," and argued that if LCS suspended operations "for

the next few months until after the completion of the merger, we will surely be watched closely

when we seek to resume them, and nothing says that the area will have been freed from the grip

of ISIS, nor that it will be free from it for years." Referring to the ISlS-issued vehicle passes,

Executive 4 indicated that he had sent Executive I "some documents issued for our distributors in

Membij and Raqqah" but stated that he had not sent this information to In-House Lawyer l, who

had told Executive 4 that he "prefer[red] not to receive anything by email." In a subsequent email

sent later that night, Executive 4 wrote to Executiv e 2 that he had heard from Executive I about

the meeting Executive 6 had had with LAFARGE's in-house general counsel, and provided his

personal telephone number.

93. On September 12,2014,Executive I sent Executive2 an emailwith the subject line

"Syria", which read in part: "The two points that worry the legal unit are our relationship with
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[Intermediary 1] and the contacts of our providers and distributors with the jihadist networks."

Executive I wrote:

I think it's imperative to maintain the plant in working order and to be able to restart
quickly. We can, provided we accept the costs, ask the Kurds to ensure the physical
protection of the site and of the Lafarge families who wish to remain there to
continue maintenance work. It seems to me that this option is totally doable, if the
strikes of the coalition quickly weaken the jihadist forces. The plant will no longer
be an objective for them.

94. Several hours after his email to Executive 2, Executive I emailed Executive 4

telling him that "[Executive 2] has received positive guidance from [Executive 6]" and then

repeated to Executive 4 the proposal that he had earlier sent to Executive 2. Executive 4 replied

by thanking Executive I for the email and repeated the argument he had previously made in an

email to Executive 2 to continue operating the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant, noting that he planned to

speak to Executive 2 later that day.

95. Ultimately, however, LCS evacuated the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant just ahead of

advancing ISIS militants, on or about September 1 8,2014. ISIS seized the plant the next day, on

September 19,2014. After ISIS militants seized control of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant, ISIS

released propaganda videos showing a small number of its fighters driving between the cement

factory buildings.

VII. to Conceal Their Rel
Intermediarv I

96. Following the evacuation of the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant and the commencement of

coalition military action against ISIS, LAFARGE and LCS executives attempted to conceal

LAFARGE's and LCS's relationship with Intermediary 1 to negotiate an agreement with ISIS in

July and August 2014. They did so by drafting a backdated contract-termination agreement that
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would allow them to falsely claim that Intermediary 1 's relationship with LCS had been terminated

when he conducted negotiations with ISIS in August and September 2014.

97. On September29,20T4,lntermediary I notified Executive 2 and Executive 4 that,

as LAFARGE and LCS executives had previously requested, he had opened a bank account in

Dubai in the name of a new company that was not publicly linked to Intermediary I ("lntermediary

1 New Company"), and he demanded payment for his services to LCS over the prior three months.

Executive 4 forwarded the email to a LAFARGE executive responsible for financial operations

and In-House Lawyer l, asking which LAFARGE entity could transact with Intermediary l's new

company.

98. In an October 9,2014 email to Executive 2 and In-House Lawyer 1 with the subject

"New contract for fintermediary 1]," Executive 4 noted that LCS owed Intermediary 1 "Monthly

fees 2*75kUSD for services in July and August" plus "August sales tax to PYD, already paid by

flntermediary l] to PYD : 10.5 M SYP:60kUSD)" totaling "2l0kUSD." Executive 4 further

wrote that In-House Lawyer 1 "would like to terminate the previous contract [with Intermediary

I ] on the date of l8th August to show evidence of company reaction to UN resolution, and to get

a new contract to start from September I st,2014." In a subsequent email on October 14,2014,

Executive 2 made clear that LAFARGE would not pay Intermediary I without a new backdated

contract. On October 14,2014,In-House Lawyer 1 attached a revised version of the new contract

and instructed Executive 4, "We will have to explain to the consultant [Intermediary l] that this

new contract must be signed at the same time as the termination agreement of the former contract,

which I also attach to this email."

99, The "I-IN resolution" Executive 4 referred to was the August 15,2014 Security

Council resolution condemning ISIS, ANF and Al-Qaeda and calling on U.N. members to prohibit
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all financial and trade relations with the groups. Thus, the October 9,2014 email from Executive

4 conveyed the proposal that LAFARGE require Intermediary I to sign a backdated termination

agreement that could falsely be offered as "evidence" that, on August 18,2074, the next business

day after the U.N. Security Council Resolution, LCS had terminated its relationship with the

intermediary who had negotiated with ISIS on LCS's behalf. The email from In-House Lawyer 1

similarly made clear that Executive 4 should procure Intermediary l's agreement to

simultaneously execute the backdated termination agreement with LCS and the new consulting

agreement with the Cypriot entity through which LAFARGE held nearly all of its shares in LCS

(the "LCS Holding Company"), with an agreement to make lump payments to Intermediary I for

past services rendered.

100. On October 14,2014, Executive 4 sent an emailto Intermediary I with the subject

line "Agreement for Regional Security Consulting Services," attaching copies of the new

consulting agreement between the LCS Holding Company, and Intermediary I's New Company,

and the backdated Termination Agreement between LCS and Intermediary l's New Company.

Executive 4's email cited the U.N. Security Council Resolution, and noted that it was necessary

for Intermediary 1 to sign the agreements "in order to protect our respective interests":

Please find attached the new contract that we would like to sign with you.

It is written in such a way as to:

o Integrate the constraints of UN resolution 2 I 70 issued on August 15 , 2014.

o Establish a contractual relationship with the [LCS Holding Company], instead
of Lafarge Cement Syria.

. Take into account the compensation for termination of the previous contract
(210k USD for 202k USD which are actually due).

Remunerate your information and consulting services while commercial activities
are suspended, whereas the previous contract did not have a provision for
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remuneration when the sales were too low (less than 75k over three consecutive
months).

To take effect, this new contract must be signed at the same time as the termination
of the last contract.

As explained on the phone, this contract includes the possibility of special services
(article 2.2) which we all hope will not be needed.

In spirit, you are and remain a long-time partner of Lafarge in Syria. In writing,
our relation must be standardized in order to protect our respective interests.

Thank you for reading these documents and returning them signed.

The new consultancy agreement between Intermediary l's New Company and the LCS Holding

Company provided for a lump sum payment of $210,000 and monthly payments of $30,000 to

Intermediary 1 for security consulting. The agreement was dated "[_] October,2014." As part of

the new consultancy agreement which "shall come into force on 01 September2Ol4," lntermediary

I was required to agree to the following:

. . . abide by the highest ethical standards and shall comply with:

(a) all applicable laws and regulations;

(b) international treaties and conventions on the prohibition of corruption and the
prohibition of financing of terrorism, including, without limitation, (i) the 1999
Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism, (ii) the OECD
International Standards on Combatting Money Laundering and the Financing of
Terrorism and Proliferation, (iii) Resolutions 1373 and 2170 of the Security
Council of the United Nations preventing any relationship with Islamist extremist
groups, and

(c) Lafarge Code of Business Conduct (a copy of which has been delivered to the
Consultant prior to signing this agreement) and with the applicable safety rules
issued by the Company's affiliate(s) in the Region.

The new consultancy agreement also included a non-disclosure provision, which required

Intermediary I to maintain the confidentiality of information he learned about LCS Holding

Company and "its affiliates," such as LAFARGE and LCS, "including the existence of this

agreement."

46

Case 1:22-cr-00444-WFK   Document 10-1   Filed 10/18/22   Page 46 of 52 PageID #: 96



101. Notably, as Executive 4 explained in his email to Intermediary l, the $210,000

lump sum payment compensated Intermediary 1 for the work he had already performed negotiating

an agreement with ISIS, and to reimburse him for making the fixed monthly "donation" payments

to armed groups, including ISIS-a clear violation of the new consultancy agreement's explicit

requirement that Intermediary 1 abide by international prohibitions against terrorism financing. In

the same email to Intermediary l, Executive 4 also attached a file named, "Termination

Agreement," between LCS and Intermediary l's New Company, which was backdated to August

18,2014. The metadata of the backdated Termination Agreement indicates that the document was

drafted by In-House Lawyer I and that it had been created on October 3,2014, despite bearing the

date of August 18, 2014, on the face of the agreement.

102. On October 19, 2014, Executive 4 sent himself a copy of the Termination

Agreement, backdated to "18 of August 2074," that had been signed by Executive 4 and

Intermediary l. On October 22,2014, Executive 4 asked Intermediary I to issue an invoice from

Intermediary 1's New Company to the LCS Holding Company. Attached to the email was a copy

ofthe signed Termination Agreement and a copy ofthe new consulting agreement between Lafarge

Cement Holding and Intermediary 1's New Company, dated "[_] October, 2074" and signed by a

LAFARGE representative and by Intermediary 1. Intermediary I responded on October 23,2014,

with an invoice for $210,000 which, in keeping with the scheme, represented payment for

Intermediary 1's prior work as an intermediary between LAFARGE and ISIS.

103. LAFARGE paid the $210,000 invoice with a wire transfer from LAFARGE's

operating account at a financial institution in Paris, through the Eastern District of New York, to

intermediary banks in New York City, which transmitted the wire to Intermediary l's New

Company account at a financial institution in Dubai.
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VIII. LAFARGE Fails to Disclose its lnvolvement with ISIS and ANF to Holcim

104. In early 2014, LAFARGE and Holcim, the two largest multinational building

materials companies, began confidential discussions about the prospect of entering into a share-

purchase agreement. Executive 6 led LAFARGE's team, while Holcim's was led by the then-

Chairman of Holcim's Board of Directors. Eventually, on or about April 4,2014, LAFARGE and

Holcim announced that Holcim would acquire LAFARGE.

105. Before the announcement, Holcim and LAFARGE representatives met in March

2014 to exchange information about the material operations and known issues of the parties, such

as public litigation and antitrust cases. LAFARGE's operations in Syria represented less than lo%

of the LAFARGE Group's sales at the time the Jalabiyeh Plant was evacuated, and Holcim did not

inquire specifically about LCS's operations in Syria. Holcim asked Executive 6 whether there

were any undisclosed material or other important issues at LAFARGE that should be brought to

the attention of Holcim before the transaction proceeded. Neither Executive 6 nor any other

LAFARGE employee made any disclosures about LCS's operations in Syria. Holcim represents

that if LAFARGE had disclosed the facts concerning LCS's agreements with ISIS and ANF in

Syria, the Holcim directors who led the deal with LAFARGE would not have proceeded with the

transaction.

IX. LAFARGE's and LCS 's Misconduct is Revealed

106. On July 10,2015, LAFARGE and Holcim completed the transaction, and

LAFARGE became a wholly owned subsidiary of Holcim.

107. Following the acquisition, several LAFARGE and LCS executives were terminated

or left their jobs, including Executive 2, Executive 5, Executive 6 and In-House Lawyer l.
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108. On February 19,2016, a website run by an opposition group to the Syrian regime

alleged that LAFARGE and LCS had purchased raw materials from and made other payments to

ISIS. The report included partially redacted images of emails sent to and from LAFARGE and

LCS executives' email accounts, discussing payments to ISIS.

109. Holcim's head of compliance leamed of the Syrian website's allegations in

February 2076, and after assessing them, informed Holcim's Chief Legal and Compliance Officer

in April2016. Holcim's Chief Legaland Compliance Officer engaged a U.S. law firm (the "U.S.

law firm") to conduct alegal analysis of the allegations, which it presented on May 11,2016. The

same day, Holcim's Chief Legal and Compliance Officer informed the Finance & Audit

Committee of Holcim's Board of Directors of the allegations and they directed him to conduct an

investigation. In June 2016, additional law and professional services firms were retained to advise

Holcim on the implications of French and Swiss law and to assist in data collection and processing,

and in July 2016 the U.S. law firm was formally retained by the Finance & Audit Committee of

Holcim's Board to conduct the investigation.

110. As part of the investigation, the U.S. law firm collected documents, electronic

correspondence and other business records from Syria and France. The U.S. law firm also

interviewed key employees and executives from Syria and France between January 11,2017, and

March24,2017. TheU.S.lawfirmsummarizeditspreliminaryfindingsfortheBoardofDirectors

on February 28,2017, and Holcim issued a corresponding press release on March 2,2017. The

U.S. law firm presented supplemental findings to Holcim's Board on April 4,2Ol7,and submitted

a final report of its findings to the Board of Directors on April 17, 2017 . On April 24, 2017,

Holcim issued a press release announcing the conclusion of the investigation:

The Board has now concluded the independent investigation and confirmed that a
number of measures taken to continue safe operations at the Syrian plant were
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unacceptable, and significant effors ofjudgement were made that contravened the
applicable code of conduct. The findings also confirm that, although these measures
were instigated by local and regional management, selected members of Group
management were aware of circumstances indicating that violations of Lafarge's
established standards ofbusiness conduct had taken place. . . .

Holcim also publicly disclosed that payments were made to U.S.-designated terrorist groups

The safety and security of LCS employees was of primary concem.

As the situation in Syria deteriorated in late 2011, the plant became increasingly
subject to disruption by local armed groups. These groups periodically interfered
with employee transportation to and from the plant, restricted access to necessary

supplies, and harassed customers. To deal with these problems, LCS used
intermediaries to avoid direct contact with these armed groups as there was concern

that direct contact would create additional risk vis-i-vis the Syrian government or
other armed groups.

Very simply, chaos reigned and it was the task of local management to ensure that
the intermediaries did whatever was necessary to secure its supply chain and the
free movement of its employees. As a result, notwithstanding any reservations they
had regarding these intermediaries, LCS made and continued to make payments to
such intermediaries in furtherance of operations. Having identified a mechanism
for dealing with the challenges they faced, these methods were applied without
regard to the identity of the groups involved.

Beginning in early 2013, terrorist groups designated by the US and the EU were
expanding into the area, along with other non-designated militant groups. It was in
this chaotic environment that LCS operated and tried to keep its doors open. LCS
management believed it was serving the best interests of the company and its
employees who depended on LCS salaries for their livelihood.

Those responsible for the Syria operations appear to have acted in a manner they
thought was in the best interests of the company and its employees and, based on
their communication and consultation along that same chain, in the belief that their
efforts were fully understood, supported, and appreciated by their senior
management. In hindsight any misdeeds may seem clear. However the
combination of the war zone chaos and the 'ocan-do" approach to maintain
operations in these circumstances may have caused those involved to seriously
misjudge the situation and to neglect to focus sufficiently on the legal and
reputational implications of their conduct.
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I I I . The evidence obtained by the government during its investigation does not establish

that LAFARGE or LCS, or any of their employees, shared or supported the terrorist ideologies or

goals of ISIS, ANF or any other FTO. Rather, LAFARGE and LCS, through their executives and

employees, agreed to make payments through intermediaries to armed groups, ultimately including

ISIS and ANF to, among other things, protect LCS's employees and assets in Syria, obtain raw

materials for cement production at the Jalabiyeh Cement Plant and achieve a competitive

advantage over LAFARGE's competitors.

112. The evidence obtained by the government during its investigation reflects that the

LAFARGE and LCS executives who participated in the offense conduct were located in France,

Syria, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Turkey and the United Arab Emirates at various times during their

participation in the offense. The offense did not involve employees of LAFARGE, or its

subsidiaries or business operations, based in the United States.

I13. The evidence obtained by the govemment during its investigation reflects that the

offense conduct ended in approximately October 2014, before Holcim completed its acquisition

of LAFARGE, and did not involve Holcim's assets, employees or operations in any way.

ll4. LAFARGE and certain of its executives, in fact, failedto disclose LCS's dealings

with ISIS and ANF to Holcim throughout discussions of the transaction and after completion of

the deal. LCS had ceased producing cement in Syria by the time the transaction with Holcim was

completed, and in the approximately seven months between the completion of the acquisition and

the emergence of public allegations regarding the misconduct in Syria, Holcim did not conduct

post-acquisition due diligence about LCS's operations in Syria.

115. Following the completion of the intemal investigation, Holcim terminated all

former LAFARGE and LCS employees still employed by Holcim who were found to have been
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involved in or responsible for LAFARGE's and LCS's offense conduct, including Executive 1 and

Executive 3.

I 16. LCS is no longer operational, and LAFARGE is presently an indirect subsidiary of

Holcim subject to Holcim's global compliance program, which was enhanced based on the

findings of the internal investigation report into LAFARGE's and LCS's offense conduct.

Holcim's global compliance program today includes an Ethics, lntegrity and Risk Committee,

which reports to the Audit Committee ofthe Board and closely supervises the compliance function;

a Resilience and Governance Team that reviews conditions in countries where Holcim operates to

identiff and respond to changes in local conditions; robust third-party due diligence and sanctions

and export control screening processes; and a well-designed process for mergers and acquisitions

due diligence.

117. Holcim's remediation efforts following the discovery of LAFARGE's and LCS's

offense conduct have been significant, and LAFARGE's and LCS's wi.llingness to accept

responsibility for their crimes evidences a commitment to preventing such serious crimes from

occurring again. Holcim has enhanced its due diligence procedures, policies and guidelines

relating to acquisition activities, including implementing various checks and controls to ensure

compliance with all applicable laws and regulations before and after any acquisition. Holcim has

put in place an effective compliance program reasonably designed and implemented to detect and

prevent any potential future criminal conduct like that committed by LAFARGE and LCS.
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ATTACHMENT B

CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE RESOLUTIONS

I, Magali Anderson, do hereby certify that I am Chair of the Board of Directors and Chief

Executive Officer of Lafarge, S.A. (the "Company"), a French company based in Paris, France,

and that the following are true, complete and correct resolutions adopted on October _,2022 by

the Board of Directors of the Company:

WHEREAS, the Company has been engaged in discussions with the United States Attorney's

Office for the Eastern District of New York (the "Office") and the United States Department of

Justice, National Security Division ("NSD") regarding issues arising from a conspiracy to make

payments to designated foreign terrorist organizations involving the Company and its subsidiary

Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. ("LCS");and

WHEREAS, in order to resolve such discussions, it is proposed that the Company and LCS enter

into a certain agreement with the Office and NSD; and

WHEREAS, the Company's outside counsel, Debevoise & Plimpton LLP and Pierre Servan-

Schreiber, have advised the Company's Board of Directors of its rights, possible defenses, the

Sentencing Guidelines' provisions and the consequences of entering into such agreement with the

Office and NSD;

Therefore, the Board of Directors has RESOLVED that:

l. The Company acknowledges the filing of the one-count lnformation charging Lafarge S.A.

and LCS (collectively the "Defendants") with a violation of l8 U.S.C. $ 23398(a)(1);
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2. The Defendants will waive indictment on the charge and enter into a plea agreement with

the Office and NSD (the "Agreement");

3. The Defendants will pay fines totaling $90.78 million, a forfeiture money judgment

totaling $687 million, and mandatory special assessments of $400 each with respect to the conduct

described in the lnformation and a Statement of Facts, in the manner described in the Agreement;

4. The Defendants will admit the Court's jurisdiction over the Defendants and the subject

matter of such action and will consent to the judgment therein;

5. The Defendants will accept and comply with each and every term and condition of the

Agreement, including, but not limited to, (a) a knowing waiver of their rights to a speedy trial

pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3 l6l , and Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure a8(b); (b) a knowing waiver, for purposes

of the Agreement and any charges by the United States arising out of the conduct described in the

Statement of Facts attached to the Agreement, of any objection with respect to venue and consents

to the filing of the Information, as provided under the terms of the Agreement, in the United States

District Court for the Eastern District of New York; and (c) a knowing waiver of any defenses

based on the statute of limitations for any prosecution relating to the conduct described in the

Information or Statement of Facts or relating to the conduct known to the Office and NSD prior to

the date on which the Agreement was signed that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of

limitations on the date of the signing of the Agreement;

6. The Company assumes full responsibility for the Defendants' obligations under the

Agreement, including but not limited to any obligations to pay financial penalties, and the

Company's obligation to engage in remedial measures, cooperate with the Office and NSD, and
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provide annual updates on compliance. The Defendants agree to consent to the jurisdiction of the

U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York to resolve any disputes that should arise

in connection with the Defendants' satisfaction of their obligations under the Agreement.

7. Magali Anderson is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute the Agreement

substantially in such form as reviewed by this Board of Directors (i) on behalf of the Company,

and (ii) for LCS, as LCS is a dormant company having no current operations, legal representatives,

officers or directors;

8. MagaliAnderson is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to take any and all actions

as may be necessary or appropriate and to approve the forms, terms or provisions of any agreement

or other documents as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out and effectuate the purpose and

intent of the foregoing resolutions, including, but not limited to waiving indictment on behalf of

the Defendants, appearing on behalf of the Defendants in any proceedings related to the Agreement

and the matters to which the Agreement relates, execute and deliver any documents necessary to

enter into the proposed settlement with the Office and NSD, enter a guilty plea before the United

States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, and accept the sentence of said court

on behalf of the Defendants: and

J
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9. All of the actions of Magali Anderson, which actions would have been authorized by the

foregoing resolutions except that such actions were taken prior to the adoption of such resolutions,

are hereby severally ratified, confirmed, approved and adopted as actions on behalf of the

Company.

Date: l'?,r? ot,Zl By

Chair of the Board of Directors and

Chief Executive Officer
Lafarge, S.A.
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ATTACHMENT C

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE REPORTING

To address any deficiencies in intemal accounting controls, policies and

procedures, Lafarge S.A. ("Lafarge") represents that it has undertaken, and will continue to

undertake in the future, a review of its existing internal accounting controls, policies and

procedures, regarding compliance with l8 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other applicable anti-terrorism

and sanctions laws. Where necessary and appropriate,Lafarge agrees to modify its existing

compliance programs, including intemal controls, compliance policies and procedures, in order

to ensure that it maintains: (a) an effective system of internal accounting controls designed to

ensure the making and keeping offair and accurate books, records and accounts; and (b) a

rigorous anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance program that incorporates relevant internal

accounting controls, as well as policies and procedures designed to effectively detect and deter

violations of l8 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other applicable anti-terrorism and sanctions laws.

Lafarge represent that it has implemented and will continue to implement a

compliance and ethics program designed to prevent and detect violations of 18 U.S.C. $ 23398

and other applicable anti-terrorism and economic and trade sanctions laws throughout its

operations, including those of its parents, affiliates and joint ventures (where possible), and that

it has attempted to ensure and will continue to ensure that its agents, contractors and

subcontractors whose responsibilities carry a high risk of contact with foreign terrorist

organizations or other sanctions-blocked persons or assets implement similar programs.

At a minimum, this should include, but not be Iimited to, the following elements,

to the extent they are not already part of Lafarge's existing intemal controls, compliance codes,

policies and procedures:
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Commitment to Compliance

l. Lafarge will ensure that its directors and senior management provide

strong, explicit and visible support and commitment to its corporate policies against violations of

anti-terrorism and economic and trade sanctions laws and its compliance codes and demonstrate

rigorous adherence by example. Lafarge will also ensure that middle management, in turn,

reinforce those standards and encourage employees to abide by them. Lafarge will create and

foster a culture of ethics and compliance with the law in its day-to-day operations at all levels of

the company.

P o I ic ie s and Procedure s

2. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary, develop and promulgate clearly

articulated and visible corporate policies against violations of anti-terrorism and economic and

trade sanctions laws and other applicable foreign law counterparts that prohibit the direct or

indirect support for, or the direct or indirect financing or facilitation of, acts of terrorism,

terrorists or terrorist organizations, and otherwise prohibit transactions and services involving

sanctions-blocked persons and assets (collectively, the "anti-terrorism and sanctions laws"),

which policies shall be memorialized in written compliance codes.

3. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary, develop and promulgate

compliance policies and procedures designed to reduce the prospect of violations of the anti-

terrorism and sanctions laws and its compliance codes, and Lafarge will take appropriate

measures to encourage and support the observance of ethics and compliance policies and

procedures against violation of the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws by personnel at all corporate

levels. These anti-terrorism and sanctions policies and procedures shall apply to all directors,

officers and employees and, where necessary and appropriate, outside parties acting on behalf of
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Lafarge in a foreign jurisdiction, including but not limited to, agents and intermediaries,

consultants, representatives, distributors, teaming partners, contractors and suppliers, consortia,

and joint venture partners (collectively, 'oagents and business partners"). Lafarge shall notify all

employees that compliance with the policies and procedures is the duty of individuals at all

corporate levels. Such policies and procedures shall address:

a. Due diligence regarding third-party agreements and third parties'

relationships with individuals and entities listed on the U.S. Department of the Treasury

Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List ("SDNs"), and U.S. State Department

des i gnated forei gn terrorist organ izations ("FTOs") ;

b. Taking reasonable and affirmative steps to ensure that any

resources or funds distributed do not fund terrorism or FTOs, and to ensure that there are no

transactions or services involving sanctions-blocked persons or assets, including SDNs; and

c. Taking reasonable and affirmative steps to prevent fraud that

could lead to the provision of financial, technical, in-kind or other material support or resources

to terrorists and FTOs, or to transactions or services involving sanctions-blocked persons and

assets.

4. Lafarge willensure that it maintains a system of financial and accounting

procedures, including a system of internal controls, reasonably designed to ensure the

maintenance of fair and accurate books, records and accounts. This system should be designed

to provide reasonable assurances that:

a. transactions are executed in accordance with management's

general or specific authorization;
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b. transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or any other

criteria applicable to such statements, and to maintain accountability for assets;

c. access to assets is permitted only in accordance with

management's general or specific authorization; and

d. the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the

existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any

differences.

P eriodic Risk- Based Review

5. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary, update these compliance

policies and procedures on the basis of a periodic risk assessment addressing the individual

circumstances of Lafarge, in particular the anti-terrorism risks it faces, including, but not limited

to, its geographical organization, industrial sectors ofoperation, potential clients and business

partners, use of third parties, and involvement in joint venture arrangements.

6. Lafarge shall review its anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance policies

and procedures no less than annually and update them as appropriate to ensure their continued

effectiveness, considering relevant developments in the field and evolving international and

industry standards.

Proper Oversight and Independence

7. Lafarge will assign responsibility to one or more senior corporate

executives for the implementation and oversight of its anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance

codes, policies and procedures. Such corporate official(s) shall have the authority to report

directly to independent monitoring bodies, including internal audit, the Holcim Group Board of
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Directors, or any appropriate committee of the Lafarge Board of Directors, and shall have an

adequate level of stature and autonomy from management as well as sufficient resources and

authority to maintain such autonomy.

Training and Guidance

8. Lafarge willmaintain or, where necessary, implement mechanisms

designed to ensure that its anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance codes, policies and

procedures are effectively communicated to all directors, officers, employees and, where

necessary and appropriate, agents and business partners. These mechanisms shall include: (a)

periodic training for all directors and officers, all employees in positions of leadership or trust,

positions that require such training (e.g., intemal audit, sales ,legal, compliance, finance), or

positions that otherwise pose an anti-terrorism or sanctions risk to Lafarge, and, where necessary

and appropriate, agents and business partners; and (b) corresponding certifications by all such

directors, officers, employees, agents and business partners, certifying compliance with the

training requirements. Lafarge will conduct training in a manner tailored to the audience's size,

sophistication or subject matter expertise and, where appropriate and permissible, will discuss

prior compliance incidents.

9. Lafarge will maintain, or where necessary establish, an effective system

for providing guidance and advice to directors, officers, employees and, where necessary and

appropriate, agents and business partners, about complying with Lafarge's anti-terrorism and

sanctions compliance codes, policies and procedures, including when they need advice on an

urgent basis or in any foreign jurisdiction in which Lafarge operates.
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Confidential Reporting and Investigations

10. Lafarge will maintain, or where necessary establish, an effective system

for internal and, where possible, confidential reporting by, and protection of, directors, officers,

employees and, where appropriate, agents and business partners conceming violations of the

anti-terrorism and sanctions laws or Lafarge's anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance codes,

policies and procedures.

I l. Lafarge will maintain, or where necessary establish, an effective and

reliable process with sufficient resources for responding to, investigating and documenting

allegations of violations of the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws or Lafarge's anti-terrorism and

sanctions compliance codes, policies and procedures. Lafarge will handle the investigations of

such complaints in an effective manner, including routing the complaints to proper personnel,

conducting timely and thorough investigations, and following up with appropriate discipline

where necessary.

Personal Devices and Email Accounts

12. Lafarge will maintain, or where necessary establish, effective policies

governing the use of personal devices and third-party messaging platforms for corporate

communications, will provide clear training to employees about such policies, and will enforce

such policies when violations are identified.
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Enfor c e me nt and D i s c ip I i ne

13. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary, implement mechanisms

designed to effectively enforce their compliance codes, policies and procedures, including

appropriately incentivizing compliance and disciplining violations.

14. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary institute, appropriate

disciplinary procedures to address, among other things, violations of the anti-terrorism and

sanctions laws and Lafarge's anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance codes, policies and

procedures by Lafarge's directors, officers and employees. Such procedures should be applied

consistently, fairly and in a manner commensurate with the violation, regardless of the position

held by, or perceived importance of, the director, officer or employee. Lafarge shall maintain or,

where necessary implement, procedures to ensure that where misconduct is discovered,

reasonable steps are taken to remedy the harm resulting from such misconduct, and to ensure that

appropriate steps are taken to prevent further similar misconduct, including assessing the internal

controls, compliance codes, policies and procedures and making modifications necessary to

ensure the overall anti-terrorism compliance program is effective.

15. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary institute, appropriate risk-

based due diligence and compliance requirements pertaining to the retention and oversight of

agents and business partners, including:

a. properly documented due diligence pertaining to the hiring and

appropriate and regular oversight ofagents and business partners;

b. informing agents and business partners of Lafarge's commitment

to abiding by anti-terrorism and sanctions laws, and of the Defendants' anti-terrorism and

sanctions compliance codes, policies and procedures; and
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c. seeking a reciprocal commitment from agents and business

partners. Lafarge will understand and record the business rationale for using a third party in a

transaction and will conduct adequate, risk-based due diligence with respect to the risks posed by

a third-party partner such as a third-party partner's reputations and relationships, if any, with

blocked persons including SDNs and FTOs. Lafarge will ensure that contract terms with third

parties specifically describe the services to be performed, and prohibit the third party from

transacting with SDNs, blocked persons or FTOs. Lafarge will engage in ongoing monitoring of

third-party relationships through updated due diligence, training, audits and/or annual

compliance certifications by the third party.

16. Where necessary and appropriate,Lafarge will include standard

provisions in agreements, contracts and renewals thereof with agents and business partners that

are reasonably calculated to prevent violations of the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws, which

may, depending upon the circumstances, include: (a) anti-terrorism and sanctions

representations and undertakings relating to compliance with the anti-terrorism and sanctions

laws; (b) rights to conduct audits of the books and records of the agent or business partner to

ensure compliance with the foregoing; and (c) rights to terminate an agent or business partner as

a result of any breach of the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws, Lafarge's compliance codes,

policies or procedures, or the representations and undertakings related to such matters.

Mergers and Acquisitions

17. Lafarge will maintain or, where necessary, develop and implement

policies and procedures for mergers and acquisitions requiring that Lafarge conduct appropriate

risk-based due diligence on potential new business entities, including appropriate anti-terrorism

and sanctions due diligence by legal, accounting and compliance personnel. Such risk-based due
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diligence will include, in addition to objective measurements of risk, consideration of subjective

risk factors.

I8. Lafarge will ensure that its compliance codes, policies and procedures

regarding the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws apply as quickly as is practicable to newly

acquired businesses or entities merged with Lafarge and will promptly:

a. train the directors, officers and employees, and, where necessary

and appropriate, agents and business partners on the anti-terrorism and sanctions laws and

Lafarge's compliance codes, policies and procedures regarding anti-terrorism and sanctions

laws; and

b. where warranted, conduct an anti-terrorism and sanctions-specific

risk review and, where necessary, audit of all newly acquired or merged businesses as quickly as

practicable.

Monitoring, Testing and Remediation

19. In order to ensure that their compliance programs do not become stale,

Lafarge will conduct periodic reviews and testing of its anti-terrorism and sanctions compliance

codes, policies and procedures designed to evaluate and improve their effectiveness in

preventing and detecting violations of anti-terrorism and sanctions laws and Lafarge's anti-

terrorism and sanctions codes, policies and procedures, taking into account relevant

developments in the field and evolving international and industry standards. Lafarge will ensure

that compliance and control personnel have sufficient direct or indirect access to relevant sources

of data to allow for timely and effective monitoring and/or testing of transactions. Based on such

review and testing and its analysis of any prior misconduct, Lafarge will conduct a thoughtful

root cause analysis and timely and appropriately remediate to address the root causes.
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ATTACHMENT D

REPORTING REOUIREMENTS

Lafarge S.A. ("Lafarge") agrees to report to the United States Attorney's Office

for the Eastern District of New York ("the Office") and the National Security Division of the

United States Department of Justice ("NSD") periodically, at no less than twelve-month intervals

during a three-year term, regarding remediation and implementation of the compliance program

and internal controls, policies and procedures described in Attachment C. During this three-year

term, Lafarge shall: (1) conduct an initial review and submit an initial report, and (2) conduct and

prepare at least two follow-up reviews and reports, as described below:

l. By no later than one year from the date this Agreement is executed,

Lafarge shall submit to the Office and NSD a written report setting forth a complete description

of its remediation efforts to date, its proposals reasonably designed to improve its intemal

controls, policies and procedures for ensuring compliance with 18 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other

applicable anti-terrorism laws, and the proposed scope of the subsequent reviews. The report

shall be transmitted to the Chief of the National Security & Cybercrime Section, United States

Attorney's Office for the Eastem District of New York, 271 CadmanPlaza East, Brooklyn, New

York 1 l20l and the Assistant Attorney General for the National Security Division, Department

of Justice, 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20530. Lafarge may extend the

period for issuance of the report with prior written approval of the Office and NSD.

2. Lafarge shall undertake at least two follow-up reviews and reports

incorporating the Office's and NSD's views on Lafarge's prior reviews and reports, to further

monitor and assess whether Lafarge's policies and procedures are reasonably designed to detect

and prevent violations of l8 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other applicable anti-terrorism laws.
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3. The first follow-up review and report shall be completed by no later than

one year after the initial report is submitted to the Office and NSD. The second follow-up

review and repoft shall be completed and delivered to the Office and NSD no later than thirty

days before the end ofthe three-yearterm described in Paragraph l.

4. The reports will likely include proprietary, financial, confidential and

competitive business information. Moreover, public disclosure of the reports could discourage

cooperation, impede pending or potential government investigations and thus undermine the

objectives of the reporting requirement. For these reasons, among others, the reports and the

contents thereof are intended to remain and shall remain non-public, except as otherwise agreed

to by the parties in writing, or except to the extent that the Office and NSD determine in their

sole discretion that disclosure would be in furtherance of the Office's and NSD's discharge of

their duties and responsibilities or is otherwise required by law.

5. Lafarge may extend the period for submission of any of the follow-up

reports with prior written approval of the Office and NSD.
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ATTACHMENT E

CERTIFICATION

To: United States Attorney's Office
Eastern District of New York
Attention: Chief, National Security & Cybercrime Section

National Security Division
United States Department of Justice

Attention: Assistant Attorney General, National Security Division

Re: Plea Agreement Disclosure Certification

The undersigned certify, pursuant to Paragraph l5 of the Plea Agreement (the "Agreement")
filed on October 18,2022, in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York, by and

between the United States and Lafarge S.A. ("Lafarge") and Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. ("LCS"
and collectively with Lafarge, the "Companies"), that undersigned is aware of the Companies'

disclosure obligations under Paragraph 15 of the Agreement and that undersigned has disclosed

to the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastem District of New York (the "Office") and

the United States Department of Justice, National Security Division ("NSD") any and all
evidence or allegations of conduct required pursuant to Paragraph 15 of the Agreement, which
includes evidence or allegations that may constitute a violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 23398 and other

applicable anti-terrorism and sanctions laws without regard to whether the conduct occurred

within or outside the jurisdiction, including the extra-territorialjurisdiction. of the United States

("Disclosable Information"). This obligation to disclose information extends to any and all

Disclosable Information that has been identified through the Companies' compliance and

controls program, whistleblower channel, internal audit reports, due diligence procedures,

investigation process or other processes. The undersigned further acknowledge and agree that

the reporting requirement contained in Paragraph l5 and the representations contained in this

certification constitute a significant and important component of the Agreement and of the

Office's and NSD's determination as to whether the Companies have satisfied their obligations
under the Agreement.

The undersigned hereby certifies, respectively, that she is the Chair of the Board of Directors of
Lafarge, and has been duly authorized by Lafarge to sign this Certification on behalf of the

Companies.

This Certification shall constitute a material statement and representation by the undersigned and

by, on behalf of, and for the benefit of the Companies to the executive branch of the United

States for purposes of l8 U.S.C. $ 1001, and such materialstatement and representation shall be

deemed to have been made in the Eastern District of New York. This Certification shall also

constitute a record, document and tangible object in connection with a matter within the
jurisdiction of a department and agency of the United States for purposes of 18 U.S.C. $ 1519.
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and such record, document and tangible object shall be deemed to have been made in the Eastern
District of New York.

By: Dated:
Magali Anderson
Chair of the Board of Directors and

Chief Executive Officer
Lafarge S.A.
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